
BELFAST DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
 
 
 
 

SUMMONS TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL GENERAL 

MEETING OF THE SHADOW COUNCIL 

 
 
 
TO:    THE COUNCILLORS OF BELFAST DISTRICT COUNCIL - SHADOW 

 

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of the District Council will 

be held in the Council Chamber, City Hall, Belfast on Tuesday, 24th March, 2015 at 6.00 

pm, for the transaction of the following business: 

 
 
1. Draft Standing Orders for New Council Period  (Pages 1 - 50) 
 

2. Agreement on Filling Positions of Responsibility  (Pages 51 - 56) 
 

3. Agreement on the appointment of Councillors to Committees  (Pages 57 - 66) 
 

4. Appointment of Aldermen  (Pages 67 - 72) 
 

 (Copy of legislation attached.) 
 

5. Agency Agreement Between the Council and the Department for Regional 
Development - (re: Off-Street Parking Function)  (Pages 73 - 86) 

 

 
 
The Members of Belfast District Council are hereby summoned to attend. 

 
 
 
 

Suzanne Wylie 
Chief Executive  

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Belfast City Council (Shadow) 

 

Report to Shadow Council 

 

Subject: Draft Standing Orders for New Council Period 

 

Date:  24 March 2015 

 

Reporting Officer: Suzanne Wylie, Chief Executive  

 

Contact Officers: Ronan Cregan, Director of Finance and Resources (ext. 6184) 

  Emer Husbands, Strategic Performance Manager (ext. 6186) 

  Stephen McCrory, Democratic Services Manager (ext. 6314) 
 

1.0 Introduction  

1.1 

 

As required under Part 7 of the Local Government Bill ‘A Council must make standing orders for the 

regulation of the proceedings and business of the Council’.  Standing Orders provide information 

for the Council on such areas as: agreeing positions of responsibility; how meetings should 

operate; issuing Motions; rules of debate; voting and; Member conduct.   

1.2 A draft set of standing orders was presented to the Shadow Strategic Policy and Resources 

Committee at its meeting on 20th February where it was agreed to defer the report until the 20th 

March meeting to allow them to be considered by party groups.  The Committee, at its meeting on 

20th March, 2015, agreed to adopt the Standing Orders attached at Appendix 1. 

The draft Standing Orders have been split into Sections.   

• Section 1 deals with the transaction of business at a full Council meeting 

• Section 2 provides for the transaction of business at Standing Committees; and  

• Section 3 includes some miscellaneous Standing Orders.   

Appended to the Standing Orders are the current operating protocols for the Licensing and 

Planning Committees, although these may also be amended by the controlling Committees over 

the next couple of months. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



1.3 Members may be aware that the draft Standing Order Regulations prepared by the Department of 

the Environment were not approved when they were brought before the NI Assembly by the 

Minister for the Environment on 24 February 2015.  The main point of dispute was in relation to the 

call in process.   

In the absence of any statutory direction and until the Assembly revisits the Standing Order 

Regulations, it is not possible for the Council to approve an alternative process in relation to call in.  

Accordingly, the copy attached at Appendix 1 retains the call-in process outlined in the Model 

Standing Orders approved by the Shadow Council in June 2014.   

3.0 Future Amendments 

3.1 

 

Once the NI Assembly approves the Standing Order Regulations, any required amendments will 

be made and a revised set of Standing Orders will be brought back to committee for notification 

and approval as necessary.   

4.0 Resource Implications 

4.1 None 

5.0 Equality and Good Relations Implications 

5.1 None 

6.0 Call in 

6.1 This decision is subject to call in. 

7.0 Recommendations 

7.1 It is recommended that Members: 

(i) Agree the draft Standing Orders at Appendix 1.  

(ii) Note that further amendments will be made as required, in consultation with Members, and 

as new information becomes available from DoE and submitted to the Strategy and 

Resources Committee for approval. 

8.0 Documents attached 

8.1 Appendix 1 – Draft Standing Orders for Belfast Shadow Council 

 
 

Page 2



 1

 
 

BELFAST CITY COUNCIL 
2015 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Standing Orders 
 
 

24th March 2015 
 

Page 3



 2

 
Introduction 

 
These Standing Orders are for the purpose of regulating the conduct of business at the 
Council and Committee meetings of the Belfast City Council. 
 
In order to make the Standing Orders more easily understood and applied, they have been 
divided into Sections 1, 2 and 3.  Section 1 is for the purpose of regulating the business 
conducted at meetings of the full Council.  Section 2 is for the regulation of business at 
meetings of Standing Committees.  Section 3 contains other miscellaneous Standing Orders. 
 
The Standing Orders contain elements which are mandatory as a result of the Local 
Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014 – “the 2014 Act” - and the Local Government 
(Standing Orders) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2015.  These mandatory elements are 
marked as such. 
 
The Standing Orders should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Constitution, Financial 
Regulations and Scheme of Delegation.  In the case of any conflict, the Standing Orders will 
prevail, subject to legal advice to the contrary. 
 
As the Licensing and Planning Committees operate with delegated authority and in a quasi 
judicial environment, specific protocols regulating meetings of those Committees appear at 
Appendices 1 and 2 to these Standing Orders.

Page 4



 3

 
 
 

Section 1 
 

THE COUNCIL 
 
EXPLANATORY NOTE 
 
In Section 1 of these Standing Orders the phrase “notice of motion” refers to such a motion 
submitted under the provisions of Standing Order 13.  The phrase “motion” refers either to a 
notice of motion or to a motion moved by the Chairperson of a Standing Committee to approve 
and adopt the proceedings of a Committee, as appropriate. 
 
ANNUAL AND MONTHLY MEETINGS 
 
1 The Annual Meeting of the Council will be held each year in June unless that year is a 

local election year.  In a local election year, the Annual Meeting will be held within 21 
days of the election day. 

 
Monthly meetings of the Council will be held on the first working day of each month 
except in August.  Monthly Meetings shall not, however, take place on a Bank or Public 
Holiday, Friday, Saturday or Sunday, but shall be held on the next following weekday 
instead. 

 
TIME OF MEETING 
 
2 The Annual Meeting and other monthly meetings of the Council shall be held in the 

Council Chamber at 6.00 o’clock p.m. except where otherwise fixed by statute or by 
special summons. 

 
ALLOCATION OF SEATS 
 
3 Seating of Members in the Council Chamber shall be through mutual arrangement 

between the various political parties and any independent Members.  Any points of 
dispute shall be decided by the Council. 

 
QUORUM 
 
4 The quorum is one-quarter of the membership of the Council, i.e. 15 Members. 
 
ATTENDANCES 
 
5 The Chief Executive shall record the names of all Members present at meetings of 

Council. 
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
6 The Lord Mayor will remind Members of their obligation to declare any interest they may 

have in respect of matters under consideration at the meeting.  Such declarations will be 
recorded by the Chief Executive. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



 4

 
COUNT OUT 
 
7 If the attention of the Lord Mayor is called by a Member of Council or the Chief Executive 

to the fact that there is not a quorum present, the division bell shall be rung and the Chief 
Executive shall call the roll of Members, and if there is not a quorum present, the Lord 
Mayor shall declare the meeting of Council at an end, and the names of those who are 
present and those who are absent shall be recorded on the minutes of the Council. 

 
DEPUTATIONS TO THE COUNCIL 
 
8 Deputations will normally only be admitted to the Council if the Chief Executive shall have 

received seven days previous written notice of the intended deputation and its purpose.  
Deputations shall not comprise of more than 3 persons and shall be restricted to making 
not more than two short speeches of not more than 10 minutes in total duration.  If the 
matter upon which the Deputation wishes to address the Council falls within the remit of a 
Committee, the Lord Mayor may direct that the Deputation shall be heard at that 
Committee rather than at the Council meeting 

 
ADMISSION OF THE PUBLIC TO THE COUNCIL MEETING 
 
9 The public may attend only in the public gallery of the Council, unless specially excluded 

by a resolution of the Council under the provisions of Standing Order 10, during the whole 
or part of the proceedings at the meeting, subject to the following conditions - 

 
(a) They must remain seated and no expression of opinion or noise of any kind shall be 

permitted; 
 
(b) Admission of the public will be subject to compliance with safety requirements. 
 
(c) The use of mobile phones or recording devices of any kind will be strictly prohibited. 
 
The Lord Mayor may exclude any member of the public in breach of these conditions. 

 
EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC FROM THE COUNCIL MEETING 
 
10 (a) The public shall be excluded from a meeting of the Council whenever it is likely that, 

during the transaction of an item of business, confidential information would be 
disclosed to them in breach of an obligation of confidence. 

 
 (b) The Council may by resolution exclude the public from a meeting of the Council 

(whether during the whole or part of the proceedings at the meeting) for such 
special reasons as may be specified in the resolution, being reasons arising from 
the nature of the business to be transacted or of the proceedings at the meeting. 

 
 (c) The Lord Mayor may at any time during the meeting, if he/she thinks it necessary to 

secure order, direct the removal of any individual or group of individuals from the 
Council Chamber, or order the Council Chamber to be wholly cleared of members 
of the public.  

 
 (d) The Council, having excluded the public, shall only consider the matter referred to it 

by the resolution. If it should be deemed necessary to consider any matter not 
included in the resolution, the public shall be re-admitted and the Lord Mayor may 
ask leave of the Council to take up the consideration of such additional matters as 
may be deemed desirable. 

 
 

Page 6



 5

 (e) The Council, having excluded the public, shall not have the power to adjourn its own 
sittings or to adjourn a debate to a future sitting.  If the business referred to in the 
resolution is not transacted, the Council may be resumed and a Member of the 
Council may propose that the Council again exclude the public on a future day to 
deal with the business specified in the resolution which was not transacted.   

 
 (f) If the Council, with the public excluded, has transacted part of the business referred 

to it, without being able to reach a decision on all the business so referred, a 
Member of the Council may, with leave of the Council, report on the progress to that 
point and ask the Council’s permission to sit again. 

 
 (g) When the Council transacts business with the public excluded, a motion for 

adoption relating to that item of business may be proposed but without further 
questions or discussion. 

 
 (h) In the event the public are excluded the reason for doing so will be recorded by the 

Chief Executive. 
 
ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 
11 At the commencement of each Meeting of the Council the Lord Mayor may read a short 

passage from the scriptures.  Thereafter, subject to any Statutory requirements to the 
contrary, the order of business at every Monthly Meeting of the Council shall be as 
follows:- 

 
 (a) Confirmation of the minutes of the Council meeting(s); 
 (b) Official announcements or memorials; 
 (c) Deputations; 
 (d) Minutes of the proceedings of the several Committees and their recommendations, 

excluding any matters successfully called-in under the provisions of Standing Order 
47; 

 (e) Matters previously called-in under the provisions of Standing Order 47 and which 
have either been considered by the Ad-Hoc Committee established for that purpose 
or which have been referred to a practising Barrister or Solicitor and for which a 
legal opinion has been received; 

 (f) Notices of Motion. 
 
COUNCIL MINUTES TO BE CONFIRMED 
 
12 The minutes of the Council to be confirmed shall be taken as read, provided that a copy 

of the minutes shall have been sent to each Member of the Council at least five days 
previously, and no discussion shall be allowed upon the minutes except as to their 
accuracy, and any objection upon that ground must take the form of a proposal which 
shall require to be seconded before it may be discussed. 

 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
13 (a) All notices of motion shall be given in writing to the Chief Executive not later than 

seven days at least before the Council meeting.  Such notices shall clearly state the 
nature of the motion intended to be submitted to the Council and shall bear the 
names of the proposer and seconder. 

 
 (b) Every notice of motion shall be relevant to some matter in relation to which the 

Council has powers or duties or which directly affects the City and its citizens.  Such 
notices shall be dated and numbered as received. 

 

Page 7



 6

 (c) Notices of motion shall be entered in their proper place by the Chief Executive on 
the Summons Paper in the order in which they were received. 

 
 (d) The Lord Mayor may exclude from the Council Summons any notice of motion 

which may be out of order or may make such clerical corrections as will bring it into 
a proper form. 

 
 (e) A Member shall have not more than one notice of motion on the Summons Paper at 

the same time. 
 
 (f) If the subject matter of any motion of which notice has been given falls within the 

remit of any Committee it shall, upon being proposed and seconded, stand referred 
without discussion to that Committee, or to such other Committee as the Council 
may determine, for consideration and report, subject to the provision that the Lord 
Mayor may, due to the urgency of the matter, allow it to be discussed at the Council 
meeting rather than it being referred to a Committee. 

 
 (g) If a notice of motion fails to be considered at a meeting of the Council such notice of 

motion will only be included on the Summons Paper for the following meeting if 
submitted in writing to the Chief Executive by the Member concerned not later than 
seven clear days, at least, before the date of that Council meeting. 

 
 (h) Any notice of motion which fails to be considered at two consecutive meetings will 

not be accepted for inclusion on the Summons Paper for a period of six months 
from the date of the second meeting at which the matter has failed to be 
considered. 

 
 (i) A notice of motion may be withdrawn or altered by the proposer and seconder with 

the consent of the Council and it shall not be permissible for any Member to speak 
upon such motion after the proposer and seconder have asked permission to 
withdraw or alter it, unless such permission shall have been refused 

 
 (j) Any Member who has spoken to an original notice of motion shall also have the 

right to speak on any amendment to the motion; and the proposer of every original 
notice of motion, but not of any amendment, shall have the right to reply at the end 
of the debate on the motion.  In this reply the proposer shall not introduce any new 
matter, but shall confine himself/herself strictly to answering previous observations.  
The right of reply shall not extend to the proposer of an amendment which, having 
been carried, has become a substantive motion. 

 
 (k) The decision of the Council on any notice of motion not referred to a Committee of 

the Council under Standing Order 13(f) shall be subject to call-in under the 
provisions of Standing Order 47. 

 
 (l) No notice of motion seeking to commit the Council to expenditure not previously 

agreed through the Committee process will be considered but shall instead stand 
referred to the appropriate Committee for consideration and report. This standing 
order will not apply when the Lord Mayor, in consultation with the Chief Executive, 
rules that the matter is one of emergency or is otherwise of such urgency that it 
would be impracticable or prejudicial to the Council’s interests to require 
compliance.  In this case, a report outlining specific details of the purpose of such 
expenditure and the budget from which the expenditure would be drawn from shall 
be put before Members. 

 
 
 
 

Page 8



 7

COMMITTEE MINUTES TO BE SUBMITTED 
 
14 In order to give sufficient time for the production of the minutes and for their perusal by 

the Members of the Council, minutes of meetings of a Committee held later than seven 
clear days before the meeting of the Council shall not be submitted to that meeting for 
approval except in case of extreme urgency to be decided by the Committee in question 
and recorded in its minutes. 

 
 It shall be the duty of a Committee, through the Chairperson or his/her representative, 

when its minutes are submitted for approval, to call the attention of the Council to any 
matter of an unusual or special character contained therein. 

 
DISCUSSION ON COMMITTEE MINUTES 
 
15 The Chairpersons of each of the Standing Committees shall propose that the minutes of 

the proceedings of the Committee for which they are the Chairperson are “approved and 
adopted” and the Lord Mayor shall immediately thereafter seek a seconder for that 
motion. 

 
 Any amendment to be moved by any Member in relation to that motion shall be about a 

matter which is included in the minutes submitted to the meeting.  Where possible, 
amendments to be moved should be sent to the Chief Executive in advance of the 
meeting of the Council. 

 
 Any Member who wishes to receive further information regarding any matters appearing 

in the minutes submitted to the Council for approval shall where possible put requests in 
writing to the Chairperson of the Committee concerned before the commencement of the 
Council meeting and he/she shall be entitled to a reply when the proceedings of the 
particular Committee are submitted for approval. 

 
 Once the Council has concluded any debate on a particular matter contained within the 

minutes of a Committee and has dealt with any amendments properly proposed and 
seconded and has moved on to another item, the Lord Mayor shall not permit any further 
discussion on that matter. 

 
AMENDMENTS 
 
16 When a notice of motion or a motion to approve and adopt the proceedings of a 

Committee is under debate at any meeting of the Council an amendment or further 
motion shall not be received, except the following:- 

 
 (a) To amend the motion; or 
 (b) That the Council meeting is adjourned; or 
 (c) That the debate is adjourned; or 
 (d) That the question under debate is immediately put to a vote; or 
 (e) That the Council proceeds to the next business. 
 
 (a) TO AMEND THE MOTION 
 
 An amendment must be legitimate.  It must not be a mere negative; must be 

relevant to the motion which it seeks to amend, and not inconsistent with 
anything already agreed upon at the same meeting.  An amendment must relate 
solely to the motion which it seeks to amend, and not be in effect a new 
proposition on a different matter. 

 
 
 

Page 9



 8

 An amendment to a motion moved by the Chairperson of a Committee that the 
minutes of the proceedings of the Committee are “approved and adopted” must 
not lay any greater financial burden on the meeting than the decision in the 
Committee minutes. 

 
When an amendment upon an original motion has been proposed and seconded, 
a second or subsequent amendment shall not be accepted until the first 
amendment is dealt with.  If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended 
shall take the place of the original motion, and shall become the question upon 
which any further amendment may be moved. 

 
 A Member shall not be entitled to move an amendment if he/she has previously 

spoken to the motion, or to move more than one amendment to any motion, nor 
shall more than one amendment be moved with the same or similar intention. 

 
 (b) THAT THE COUNCIL MEETING IS ADJOURNED 
 
  Any Member of the Council who has not already spoken on any motion or 

amendment then under debate may propose “that the Council meeting is 
adjourned”.  Such a proposal must be seconded, but it need not be submitted in 
writing.  The proposer and seconder shall not speak beyond formally proposing 
and seconding the motion, which shall be put to the vote without debate. 

 
  If the proposal for the adjournment is carried, the Lord Mayor shall (unless stated 

in the proposal) fix the date for the adjourned meeting for the continuation of the 
debate on the motion or amendment under discussion at the time of the 
adjournment, and for the transaction of the remaining business (if any) on the 
agenda for the meeting so adjourned. 

 
  If the proposal fails, a second proposal “that the Council meeting is adjourned” 

shall not be made within half-an-hour, unless in the opinion of the Lord Mayor the 
circumstances are materially altered. 

 
 (c) THAT THE DEBATE IS ADJOURNED 
 
  Any Member of the Council who has not already spoken to any motion or 

amendment then under debate may propose “that the debate is adjourned”.  
Such a proposal must be seconded, but it need not be submitted in writing.  The 
proposer and seconder shall not speak beyond formally proposing and 
seconding it. 

 
  Before putting to the meeting a proposal “that the debate is adjourned”, the Lord 

Mayor shall invite the proposer of the motion or amendment under discussion to 
reply on the question of adjournment and, after such reply, which will not 
prejudice the right of the proposer of a motion to reply on the original question, 
shall put the proposal for adjournment of the debate to the vote without further 
debate. 

 
  If the proposal is carried, the Council shall proceed to the next business on the 

agenda, and the discussion of the adjourned debate shall be resumed at the next 
monthly meeting of the Council unless a special meeting of the Council shall be 
called for that purpose.  On resuming an adjourned debate, the Member who 
proposed its adjournment shall be entitled to speak first. 

 
  If the proposal fails, a second proposal “that the debate is adjourned” shall not be 

made within half-an-hour.  A Member shall not move or second more than one 
proposal for the adjournment of the same debate. 

Page 10



 9

 
 (d) THAT THE QUESTION UNDER DEBATE IS IMMEDIATELY PUT TO THE VOTE 
 
  Any Member who has not already spoken to any motion or amendment then 

under debate may propose “that the question under debate is immediately put to 
the vote”.  Such a proposal must be seconded, but it need not be submitted 
writing.  The proposer and seconder shall not speak beyond formally proposing 
and seconding it. 

 
  If the Lord Mayor is of the opinion that the matter under debate has been 

sufficiently discussed, he/she shall put the proposal “that the question under 
debate is immediately put to the vote” to the vote without debate and if this is 
carried the motion or amendment under discussion shall be put to the Council.  If 
the Lord Mayor is of the opinion that the matter under debate has not been 
sufficiently discussed then the debate shall continue and the Lord Mayor’s ruling 
on such matters shall not be open to discussion. 

 
  If the proposal fails, a second proposal “that the question under debate is 

immediately put to the vote” shall not be made on the same matter within half-an-
hour.  A Member shall not move or second more than one proposal “that the 
question under debate is immediately put to the vote” on the discussion of the 
same matter. 

 
 (e) THAT THE COUNCIL PROCEEDS TO THE NEXT BUSINESS 
 
  Any Member of the Council who has not already spoken to any motion or 

amendment then under debate may propose, “that the Council proceeds to the 
next business”.  Such a proposal must be seconded, but it need not be submitted 
in writing.  The proposer and seconder shall not speak beyond formally 
proposing and seconding the motion which shall be put to the vote without 
debate. 

 
  If the proposal is carried the matter under discussion shall be considered as 

dropped. 
 
  If the proposal fails, a second proposal “that the Council proceeds to the next 

business” shall not be made on the same matter within half-an-hour.  A Member 
shall not move or second more than one proposal “that the Council proceeds to 
the next business” on the discussion of the same matter. 

 
AMENDMENTS TO BE SUBMITTED IN WRITING AND SECONDED 
 
17 All notices of motion shall appear on the agenda for the Council meeting.  All 

amendments to amend a notice of motion and all amendments to amend a motion that 
the proceedings of a Committee are approved and adopted shall, where practicable, be 
submitted to the Lord Mayor in writing by the proposer, and read to the meeting, and such 
amendment shall not be discussed by anyone other than the proposer until it has been 
seconded. 

 
RESERVING SPEECH 
 
18 A Member of the Council may formally second an original motion or amendment and 

reserve the right to make his/her speech on the matter later in the debate rather than at 
the time of seconding. 

 
 
 

Page 11



 10

 
DURATION OF SPEECHES 
 
19 In submitting a notice of motion, the proposer shall not speak for more than ten minutes, 

except with the permission of the Council, and in replying for not more than five minutes.  
Other speakers shall each be allowed five minutes. 

 
 In moving an amendment to a motion that a set of Committee minutes are approved and 

adopted, the proposer and any other Member addressing the amendment shall not speak 
for more than five minutes. 

 
POINTS OF ORDER 
 
20 A Member, whether or not he/she has previously spoken to the motion or amendment 

under debate, may call the attention of the Lord Mayor to a point of order which shall be 
immediately ruled upon by him/her.  Such points of order must be strictly related to an 
alleged breach of the Standing Orders. 

 
EXPLANATIONS 
 
21 A Member who has been referred to by another Member during a speech and has had 

ascribed to him/her an opinion which they feel to be inaccurate may, with the consent of 
the Lord Mayor, give a short explanation of the matter at the conclusion of the speech in 
which they are referred to, regardless of whether or not they have already spoken on the 
matter under discussion.  This explanation must deal solely with the issue at hand, must 
not introduce new arguments and not in effect be a new speech on the matter.  A 
Member giving such an explanation must resume their seat if the Lord Mayor shall so 
direct. The Lord Mayor should permit an explanation to be provided if improper conduct 
or an improper motive has been alleged against the member wishing to give the 
explanation. 

 
MEMBERS TO SPEAK ONCE ONLY 
 
22 Subject to the previous Standing Orders, a Member shall not address the Council more 

than once on the same motion or amendment. 
 
ADJOURNMENT OF MEETING AFTER FIVE HOURS CONTINUOUS SITTING 
 
23 Any meeting of the Council which has lasted continuously for five hours shall stand 

adjourned unless the Council shall by resolution decide to continue sitting. 
 
 In the event of such adjournment, the Lord Mayor shall fix the date for the adjourned 

meeting for the continuation of the debate on the motion or amendment under discussion 
at the time of the adjournment and for the transaction of the remaining business (if any) 
on the agenda for the meeting so adjourned. 

 
VOTING AND DIVISIONS 
 
24 Subject to any statutory provisions to the contrary, any matter to be decided by the 

Council will be by simple majority, conducted by show of hands. 
 
 If, before a vote is called, any Member present at the meeting requests it, the names for 

and against the proposal or amendment and those abstaining from voting will be taken 
down in writing and recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  Upon such a request being 
received, the division bell shall be rung, and a period of one minute shall be allowed to 
elapse, when the doors of the Council Chamber shall be closed and no one admitted until 
the vote has been taken. 

Page 12



 11

 
 
 
 During the taking of the votes Members shall remain seated. 
 
 In the case of an equality of votes, the Lord Mayor shall have a second and casting vote. 
 
QUALIFIED MAJORITY VOTING (MANDATORY) 
 
25 Any decisions in relation to: 
 
 (a)  the adoption of executive arrangements or prescribed arrangements as the 

Council’s form of governance (Section 19 of the 2014 Act); 
 
 (b)  the adoption of the Sainte Lague method for filling positions of responsibility 

(Paragraph 3(2) of Schedule 1 of the 2014 Act); 
 
 (c) the adoption of a Single Transferable Vote election as the method for filling 

positions of responsibility (Part 2 of Schedule 1 of the 2014 Act); 
 
 (d)  the adoption of the Droop Quota method for appointing councillors to Committees 

(Paragraph 3(3) of Schedule 2 of the 2014 Act); 
 
 (e)  a call-in made in accordance with Section 41(1)(b) of the 2014 Act, i.e. on the 

grounds of adverse community impact; and 
 
 (f)  the suspension of Standing Orders, other than Standing Orders 25, 34, 35 and 47 

which cannot be suspended; 
 

shall be taken by a qualified majority where not less than 80% of the Members present 
and voting shall be required for the decision to be carried 
 
Any vote on a decision where a qualified majority is required shall be by way of a 
recorded vote where the names of the Members voting for and against the question 
shall be taken down in writing and recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 

 
RESCINDING OF DECISIONS WITHIN SIX MONTHS 
 
26 A motion to alter or rescind a decision of the Council shall not be competent within six 

months from the date of such decision unless:- 
 
 (a) the motion shall be brought forward as a recommendation of the Committee 

concerned: or 
 
 (b) the notice shall bear, in addition to the name of the Member who submits the 

motion, the signatures of at least one-quarter of the total number of Members of the 
Council. 

 
QUESTIONS DECIDED TWICE IN SAME FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
27 A matter which within any financial year has twice been decided by the Council in the 

same way shall not in the same financial year again be submitted for the Council’s 
consideration, and this Order shall not be evaded by the substitution of any motion which 
is differently worded, but in principle the same. 

 
 
 

Page 13



 12

 
 
 
CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
28 Members must have due regard to the provisions of the Northern Ireland Local 

Government Code of Conduct for Councillors in relation to their conduct during the whole 
of the proceedings of a meeting of the Council and particularly so in relation to the 
provisions as set out in Standing Orders 29 to 32. 

 
MODE OF ADDRESS 
 
29 Members of Council shall be seated, except when addressing the Lord Mayor, and shall 

address other Members by their respective title of “Lord Mayor”, “Chairperson”, 
“Alderman” or “Councillor”.  When a Member is called to speak he/she shall rise and 
address the Lord Mayor and he/she shall not be interrupted except as provided for in 
these Standing Orders. 

 
 The Lord Mayor shall determine the order of speaking by the Members.  When the Lord 

Mayor rises, a Member shall not continue standing or speaking, nor shall any other 
Member rise until the Chair be resumed. 

 
OFFENSIVE EXPRESSION 
 
30 A Member shall not impute motives or use offensive expression in reference to any 

Member of the Council. 
 
DISORDERLY CONDUCT 
 
31 (a) If at a meeting any Member of the Council, in the opinion of the Lord Mayor, 

misconducts himself/herself by persistently disregarding the ruling of the Chair, or 
by behaving irregularly, improperly, or offensively, or by wilfully obstructing the 
business of the Council, the Lord Mayor or any other Member may move “That the 
Member named be not further heard”, and the motion if seconded shall be 
immediately put to a vote without discussion. 

 
 (b) If the Member named continues his/her misconduct after a motion under paragraph 

(a) has been carried:- 
 

  (i) the Lord Mayor or any other Member may move “That the Member named 
 immediately leave the meeting” (in which case the motion shall be put and 
 determined without seconding or discussion); 

 
  (ii) the Lord Mayor may adjourn the meeting of the Council for such period as 

 he/she in his/her discretion shall consider expedient. 
 
 (c) When the Lord Mayor is of the opinion that the due and orderly dispatch of business 

is impossible, he/she in addition to any other power vested in him/her may, without 
discussion, adjourn the meeting of the Council for such period as he/she considers 
necessary. 

 
RULING OF THE LORD MAYOR 
 
32 The ruling of the Lord Mayor upon all questions of order, and of matters arising in debate, 

shall be final, and shall not be open to discussion. 
 
 

Page 14



 13

 
 
 
SUSPENSION OF STANDING ORDERS 
 
33 For the purpose of affording greater freedom of debate, any of the Standing Orders may 

be suspended at any meeting of the Council. Upon a motion duly proposed, seconded, 
and carried by a weighted majority vote such standing orders shall be suspended for that 
item of business.  Previous notice of any such motion shall not be necessary.  This 
standing order shall not apply in respect of those standing orders that are mandatory 
under the provisions of the Local Government (Standing Orders) Regulations (Northern 
Ireland) 2015. 

 
MANDATORY STANDING ORDERS IN RELATION TO THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
FIRST ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL FOLLOWING THE LOCAL ELECTIONS 
 
POSITIONS OF RESPONSIBILITY, etc. – TIME LIMITS (MANDATORY) 
 
34 (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) of this standing order, in relation to positions of 

responsibility selected in accordance with paragraphs 2(1) and 2(2) or paragraph 
4(1) or paragraphs 6(1) and 6(2) of Schedule 1 to the 2014 Act, the period 
specified for –  
 
(a) the nominating officer to select a position of responsibility and the term for 
 which it must be held; and 
(b)  the person nominated to accept the selected position 

 
 is 15 minutes. 

 
 (2) An extension to the period specified in sub-paragraph (1) of this standing order 

may be granted subject to the approval of the Council.  Such an extension may 
be requested by –  

 
  (a) the nominating officer; 
  (b) the person nominated to hold the selected position; or 
  (c) another member. 
 
APPOINTMENT OF MORE THAN ONE COMMITTEE (MANDATORY) 
 
35 (1) Where the Council appoints more than one committee at the same meeting in 

accordance with paragraph 5 of Schedule 2 to the 2014 Act, for the purposes of 
determining the number of places that must be allocated across the parties and 
independent members of the Council, it must agree –  

 
  (a) the number of committees to be appointed; and 
  (b) the number of councillors that shall constitute the membership of each 

 committee. 
 
 (2)  The total number of places to which a nominating officer of a party may nominate 

members who stood in the name of that party when elected must be calculated in 
accordance with paragraphs 2 to 4 of Schedule 2 to the 2014 Act and any 
resolution of the Council made thereunder. 

 
 (3)  A nominating officer’s function under paragraph 2(1)(b) of Schedule 2 to the 2014 

Act shall be exercised in such manner as to ensure that –  
 

Page 15



 14

  (a) all the members of a committee are not nominated by the same nominating 
officer; 

  (b) a nominating officer of a party may nominate members who stood in the name 
of that party to fill the majority of places on a committee, if the majority of 
members stood in the name of that party; and 

  (c) subject to (a) and (b), the number of members nominated by each nominating 
officer of a party, in so far as is reasonably practicable, bears the same proportion 
to the number of places on that committee as is borne by the number of members 
who stood in the name of that party. 

 
 (4) Nominations made in accordance with sub-paragraph (3) of this standing order 

shall take into account any positions of responsibility on a committee held by a 
member who stood in the name of the party. 

 

Page 16



 15

 
SECTION 2 

 
STANDING COMMITTEES 

 
STANDING COMMITTEES 
 
36 The following shall be the Standing Committees of the Council: 
 
 (a) Strategic Policy and Resources 
 (b) City Growth and Regeneration 
 (c) People and Communities 
 (d) Licensing 
 (e) Planning 
 
DUTIES OF COMMITTEES 
 
37 The Standing Committees shall be responsible to the Council for the matters described 

hereunder and shall control the various Departments which carry out the functions of the 
Council, that is to say 

 
(a) Strategic Policy and Resources Committee 
 
The Strategic Policy and Resources Committee will be responsible for setting the strategic 
direction of the Council through the development of its corporate plan and other key corporate 
and cross cutting strategies and policies.  It will also ensure effective use of resources and 
value for money for ratepayers, and oversee the Council’s relationship with a number of key 
agencies and partners.  
 
This includes:- 
 

• working with partners to lead the development of the community plan 

• Supporting the development, implementation and monitoring of the Physical  

Investment Strategy 

• Developing and implementing the organisation’s Good Relations & Equality 

Strategies 

• Allocating resources based on the corporate and city priorities 

• Managing and monitoring performance against the achievement of the council 

objectives and those agreed in the community plan 

• Developing the council’s finance strategy and all matters relating to its 

implementation including; all revenue and capital financing and borrowing, the annual 

revenue and capital budgets and the rate to be levied, monitoring of financial 

performance 

• Developing the council’s organisational development strategy and all matters relating 

to its implementation including; governance and organisation structures, 

organisational improvement initiatives, member and officer capacity building and 

monitoring of organisational performance 

Page 17



 16

• Developing the internal strategies to ensure the smooth running of the council 

including; asset management, procurement, grants, human resources, ,diversity, 

communications and accommodation  

• Managing and maintaining the corporate land bank and city assets, including the City 

Hall 

• Agreeing the Local Development Plan with the Planning Committee 

• Overseeing  the delivery of the internal council services listed below; 

Human Resources; Corporate Communications; Legal Services; Democratic 
Services; Corporate Policy and Strategic Planning; Finance and Performance; Digital 
Services and Audit Governance and Risk Services.  Property and Projects will also 
report on Procurement; Contract Management; Programme Management; Estates 
Unit and Facilities Management .  Good relations will also be the responsibility of this 
committee. 

 
(b) City Growth and Regeneration Committee 
 
The City Growth and Regeneration Committee will be responsible for the development and 
implementation of strategies, policies, programmes and projects directed to the regeneration 
and growth of the city in the context of the outcomes agreed in the community and corporate 
plans and other corporate strategy.   
 
This includes:- 
 

• Influencing and contributing to regional regeneration and growth strategies and 

activities  

• Developing and implementing city-wide economic strategies and policies  

• Managing and maximising the impact of major physical developments in the city 

• Coordinating and promoting major city wide events 

• Sourcing and providing support to attract and utilise European and other grants 

which contribute to the growth of the city  

• Providing support for economic development initiatives 

• Supporting the development of culture, heritage and the arts 

• Working with other agencies to promote Belfast as a key investment and tourism 

opportunity 

• Developing programmes and actions to support local businesses and attract inward 

investment 

• Managing the Council’s markets and maximising their benefit to the city 

• Influencing and contributing to strategies and policies affecting skills, employability, 

transportation and energy in the City 

• Overseeing the delivery of the following services 

Page 18



 17

Economic Development, Urban Development, Tourism, Culture and Arts, 
European and  International Relations, Waterfront and Ulster Halls, City Markets, 
City Events, Belfast Castle, Malone House, Belfast Zoo and the transferring car 
parks 

 

 
(c) People and Communities Committee 
 
The People and Communities Committee will be responsible for the development and 
implementation of strategies, policies, programmes and projects aimed at improving life at a 
local level in the context of the outcomes agreed in the community and corporate plans and 
other corporate strategy.  This includes 
 

• Developing and delivering programmes, events and activities to promote health, 

safety and well being at a local level 

• Administering and enforcing the Council’s powers and duties under the Public Health 

Acts and all environmental health and building related legislation and regulations  

• Securing and providing adequate provision for the recycling, treatment and disposal 

of commercial and domestic waste including bulky waste and the collection and 

disposal of abandoned motor vehicles. 

• Exercising the Council's powers for improving local environmental quality in relation 

to housing legislation, Managing controlled waste, emergency planning and 

community safety and anti-social behaviour, clean neighbourhoods and other 

environmental or regulatory issues not falling within the remit of any other 

Committee.  

• Managing, maintaining and maximising the benefit of the Council’s parks, pitches,  

playgrounds and other public spaces as well as community centres and other indoor 

facilities 

• Developing and implementing activities to ensure the delivery of corporate strategies 

and initiatives in respect of the promotion of health and physical activity, 

environmental protection, community safety and other such areas under the domain 

of this Committee. 

• Overseeing the delivery of the Council’s frontline services and associated community 

assets including; 

• Overseeing the delivery of  the Council’s frontline services and associated 

community assets including; 

Environmental Services; Cleansing; Waste Management; Parks and Cemeteries 
service (excluding zoo, Malone House and Belfast Castle), Neighbourhood and 
Development Services; Community Services, Community Safety and Emergency 
Planning.   

 
 (d) Licensing Committee 
 

The Licensing Committee shall be responsible for the consideration of all matters 
pertaining to policy and legislation in relation to licensing issues. The Licensing 
Committee shall have delegated authority for determining the following matters: 

Page 19



 18

 
(i) The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Northern Ireland) Order 1985 
 
 Entertainment Licences 
 
 Applications for the grant of outdoor licences 
 Applications for the grant, renewal, transfer or variation of licences where 

objections are received  
 Suspension and revocation of licences 
 Applications for a waiver to permit entertainment involving striptease or 

nudity. 
 
 Sex Establishments 
 
 Applications for the grant of licences 
 Applications for the renewal, transfer or variation of licences  
 Revocation of licences 
  
(ii) The Betting, Gaming, Lotteries and Amusements (Northern Ireland) Order 1985 

(as amended by the Betting and Gaming (Northern Ireland) Order 2004). 
 
 Applications for the grant of amusement and pleasure permits 
 Applications for the renewal of amusement permits where adverse 

representations have been made 
 Registration of Societies in relation to the running of lotteries. 
 
(iii) Street Trading Act (Northern Ireland) 2001 
 
 Designation of streets or part thereof 
 Applications for the grant of licences 
 Applications for the renewal, transfer or variation of licences where objections are 

received 
 Revocation of licences 
 Setting of licence fees 
 
(iv) administration of the provisions of the Licensing (Northern Ireland) Order 1996 

and the Registration of Clubs (Northern Ireland) Order 1996 relating to 
entertainments and liquor licensing in licensed premises and registered clubs. 

 
(v) such other licensing matters as the Director of Health and Environmental 

Services considers appropriate to be addressed by the Licensing Committee. 
 

Whilst the Committee has full delegated authority in relation to licensing decisions it may 
reconsider any decision referred to it by the Director of Health and Environmental Services in 
consultation with the Director of Legal Services. 
 
(e) Planning Committee 
 
The Planning Committee shall be responsible for all the Council’s planning functions, 
excepting those matters which are expressly delegated to officers or reserved to full Council. 
 
Specific responsibilities include: 
. 

• Exercising the Council’s powers and duties in relation to local planning policies, plan 
strategies, the statement of community involvement and any other development plan 
documents in conjunction with the Strategic Policy and Resource Committee who will 

Page 20



 19

consider all of the said policies and plans to ensure that they are consistent with the 
broader strategic objectives of the Council;  
 

• Reconsideration of local planning policies, plan strategies, the statement of 
community involvement and any other development plan documents in respect of 
which the Strategic Policy and Resource Committee considers to be inconsistent with 
the broader strategic objectives of the Council; 
 

• Deciding applications for planning permission and whether to impose any condition, 
limitation or other restriction on an approval, consent, licence or permission; 

 

• Revoking, amending, modifying or varying any approval, consent, licence or 
permission; 

 

• Determining any matters related to the exercise of permitted development rights as 
set out in the Planning (General Development) Order (NI) 1993 or any other 
legislation relating to such rights; 
 

• Exercising the Council’s powers and duties in relation to development control; 
 

• Determining applications for the display of advertisements and whether to impose 
any condition, limitation or other restriction on such advertisements; 

 

• Determining applications for planning permission or consents for listed buildings and 
exercising any related powers and duties; including the revocation or modification of 
such a consent; 

 

• Exercising the Council’s powers in relation to the preservation of trees; 
 

• Dealing with any other planning related matter that a meeting of Council or any other 
Committee considers appropriate to be referred to the Planning Committee; 

 

• Responding to consultations on local planning policies, plan strategies the statement 
of community involvement and any other development plan documents in adjoining 
authorities; 

 

• Responding to consultations issued by the Department of Social Development, or 
any other Department, in relation to planning matters; 

 

• Responding to consultations in relation to regionally significant or major applications 
to be determined by the Department of Social Development 

 
MEMBERSHIP OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
 
38 The membership of the Standing Committees shall be made in accordance with the 

provisions of Schedule 2 to the 2014 Act. 
 

QUORUM 
 
39 The quorum of every Committee shall be five, with the exception of the Planning 

Committee where the quorum shall be four. 
 
MEETINGS OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
 
40 Committees shall normally meet on a monthly basis or as often as determined by the 

Committee. 

Page 21



 20

 
 Unless in cases of emergency, the Committees of the Council shall not meet during the 

month of July in any year.  During that month the business of the Council managed by the 
Committees shall, where circumstances render it necessary, be discharged by the Chief 
Executive or, in her absence, her Deputy acting upon recommendations made by the 
Directors of Departments.  If, however, any matter arises which in the opinion of the Chief 
Executive or her Deputy ought properly to be placed before a Committee for 
consideration, the Chief Executive or her Deputy, in consultation with the Chair or in his 
or her absence the Deputy Chair of the Committee concerned, shall call a meeting of the 
Committee for that purpose. 

 
OTHER MEMBERS MAY ATTEND COMMITTEES 
 
41 Members of the Council who wish to attend Committees other than those of which they 

are Members shall be at liberty to do so.  They may be permitted by the Chairperson to 
speak on any question before the Committee, but not to vote or take any other part in the 
proceedings. 

 
ADMISSION OF THE PUBLIC TO COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
 
42 The public may attend only in the part of the Committee Room set aside for that purpose, 

unless specially excluded by a resolution of the Committee under the provisions of 
Standing Order 43, during the whole or part of the proceedings at the meeting, subject to 
the following conditions - 

 
(a) They must remain seated and no expression of opinion or noise of any kind shall 

be permitted; 
(b) Admission of the public will be subject to compliance with safety requirements 
(c) The use of mobile phones or recording devices of any kind will be strictly 

prohibited. 
 
The Chairperson may exclude any member of the public in breach of these conditions. 

 
EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC FROM COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
 
43 (a) The public shall be excluded from a meeting of a Committee whenever it is likely 

that, during the transaction of an item of business, confidential information would be 
disclosed to them in breach of an obligation of confidence. 

 
 (b) The Committee may by resolution exclude the public from a meeting of the 

Committee (whether during the whole or part of the proceedings at the meeting) for 
such special reasons as may be specified in the resolution, being reasons arising 
from the nature of the business to be transacted or of the proceedings at the 
meeting. 

 
 (c) The Chairperson may at any time during the meeting, if he/she thinks it necessary 

to secure order, direct the removal of any individual or group of individuals from the 
Committee Room, or order the Room to be wholly cleared of members of the public.
  

 (d) The Committee, having excluded the public, shall only consider the matter referred 
to it by the resolution. If it should be deemed necessary to consider any matter not 
included in the resolution, the public shall be re-admitted and the Chairperson may 
ask leave of the Committee to take up the consideration of such additional matters 
as may be deemed desirable. 

 
 (e) The Committee, having excluded the public, shall not have the power to adjourn its 

own sittings or to adjourn a debate to a future sitting.  If the business referred to in 

Page 22



 21

the resolution is not transacted, the Committee may be resumed and a Member of 
the Committee may propose that the Committee again exclude the public on a 
future day to deal with the business specified in the resolution which was not 
transacted.   

 
 (f) If the Committee, with the public excluded, has transacted part of the business 

referred to it, without being able to reach a decision on all the business so referred, 
a Member of the Committee may, with leave of the Committee, report on the 
progress to that point and ask the Committee’s permission to sit again. 

 
(i) When the Committee transacts business with the public excluded, a 

motion for adoption relating to that item of business may be proposed but 
without further questions or discussion. 

(ii) In the event that the public are excluded for any item of business the 
reason for doing so will be recorded. 

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 
44 Subject to any Statutory requirements to the contrary, the order of business at every 

Committee Meeting shall be as follows:- 
 (a) Routine Matters 
 (b) Apologies 
 (c) Declarations of Interest 
 (d) Deputations 
 (e) Any matter successfully called-in and referred back to the Committee for 

 reconsideration under the provision of Standing Order 47(C)(7) 
 (f) Officers’ Reports 
 (g) Matters specifically requested to be included on the agenda by an elected Member 

 under the provision of Standing Order 45. 
 

REQUEST FOR A MATTER TO BE INCLUDED ON AN AGENDA 
 
45 Any Member who wishes to have a particular matter included on the agenda for a 

meeting of a Committee shall make such request in writing to the appropriate Chief 
Officer.  If the subject matter of the request falls within the remit of the Committee and the 
action proposed to be taken is lawful, the Chief Officer shall, after informing the 
appropriate Chairperson, arrange for that matter to be included on the agenda for the 
next available monthly meeting of the Committee, indicating the name of the Member 
who will be speaking to the issue at the meeting 

 
 The issue in question will either simply appear on the agenda against an individual 

Member’s name or, if the appropriate Chief Officer considers that it would be helpful to 
the Committee in considering the matter, a short covering report may be prepared which 
highlights that a named Member has asked that the issue is raised and give some 
important factual information.  No significant resources, including officer time, will be 
committed to such preparatory work.  Resources will only be committed once the Council 
has decided to take action. 

 
VOTING 
 
46 All questions at a Committee shall be decided by a majority of the Members present and 

voting by show of hands, unless otherwise resolved by the Committee before a vote is 
taken.  The Chairperson may vote and shall, in addition, have a casting vote in the case 
of equality of votes. 

 
CALL-IN PROCESS (MANDATORY) 
 

Page 23



 22

47 (a) Decisions subject to call-in 
 
(1) The following decisions may be subject to call-in in such manner as is specified in 

these standing orders— 
(a) a decision of the executive; 
(b) an executive decision taken under joint arrangements in accordance with 

section 26 of the 2014 Act; 
(c) a key decision taken by an officer or officers of the council; 
(d) a decision taken by a committee under delegated authority in accordance with 

section 7 of the 2014 Act; and 
(e) a decision taken by a committee to make a recommendation for ratification by 

the council.    
(2) The following decisions shall not be subject to call-in— 

(a) a decision on a regulatory or quasi-judicial function which is subject to a 
separate appeal mechanism; 

(b) a decision which is deemed to be a case of special urgency in accordance 
with regulation 26 of the 2014 Executive Arrangements Regulations; 

(c) a decision where an unreasonable delay could be prejudicial to the council’s 
or the public’s interests; 

(d) a decision taken by an officer or officers which is not a key decision; 
(e) a decision by the executive which serves only to note a report from or the 

actions of an officer or officers. 
 

(3) No decision shall be subject to call-in more than once for each of the reasons 
specified in section 41(1) of the 2014 Act. 

 
(b) Call-in admissibility 
 
(1)  A call-in shall be submitted in writing to the clerk by 10am on the fifth working day 

following publication of the decision to which the call-in relates.  If a call-in is 
received after the specified deadline, it shall be deemed inadmissible. 

 
(2)  A call-in shall— 

(a) specify the reasons why a decision should be reconsidered; and 
(b) subject to sub-paragraph (5) of this standing order, be deemed to be 

inadmissible if the reasons are not specified. 
 
(3) In the case of a call-in submitted under section 41(1)(b) of the 2014 Act, members 

shall state in the reasons specified under sub-paragraph (2) of this standing 
order— 
(a) the community that would be affected by the decision; and 
(b) the nature and extent of the disproportionate adverse impact. 

 
(4) Within one working day of receipt of a call-in, the clerk shall confirm that— 

(a) it has the support of 15 per cent of the members of the council; and 
(b) the reasons for the call-in have been specified. 

 
(5) Where the reasons have not been specified on the requisition the clerk shall notify 

the members making the requisition that it shall be considered inadmissible if 
reasons are not specified in writing within the specified deadline. 

 
(6) Within one working day of receipt of an admissible call-in submitted under section 

41(1)(b) of the 2014 Act, the clerk shall seek the opinion of a practicing solicitor or 
barrister in accordance with section 41(2) of the 2014 Act. 

 
(7) Where the legal opinion obtained in accordance with section 41(2) of the 2014 Act 

confirms that the call-in has merit, the clerk shall— 

Page 24



 23

(a) furnish the opinion to members; and 
(b) include the decision on the agenda for the next available meeting of the 

council, at which it will be taken by a qualified majority. 
 
(8) Where the legal opinion obtained in accordance with section 41(2) of the 2014 Act 

indicates that the call-in does not have merit, the clerk shall— 
(a) furnish the opinion to members; and 
(b) make arrangements for the decision to be implemented or tabled for 

ratification by the council, as appropriate. 
 

  (c) The call-in process: committee arrangements 
 
(1) For the purposes of reconsideration of a decision pursuant to a call-in the minutes 

of a committee which record a decision— 
(a) taken under delegated authority; or 
(b) for ratification by the council 
shall be published within two working days of the conclusion of the meetings. This 
date shall be regarded as the date of publication for the purposes of a call-in. 

 
(2) If a call-in is not received by the deadline specified in paragraph (b)(1) of this 

standing order, the decision specified in— 
(a) paragraph (c)(1)(a) of this standing order shall be implemented; or  
(b) paragraph (c)(1)(b) of this standing order shall be tabled for ratification by the 

council. 
 
(3) The tabling for ratification of a decision specified in paragraph (c)(1)(b) of this 

standing order, or the implementation of a decision specified in paragraph (c)(1)(a) 
of this standing order, shall be postponed (unless the total level of support for the 
call-in falls below 15 per cent of the members) until the call-in has been resolved.  
The decision maker may rescind the decision at any time prior to the call-in being 
resolved. 

 
(4) If an admissible call-in is made in accordance with paragraph (b)(2) of this 

standing order and section 41(1)(a) of the 2014 Act, the council shall appoint an 
ad hoc committee of the council, the membership of which will be— 
(a) the chairpersons of all committees of the council; and 
(b) the deputy chairpersons of all committees of the council 
to consider the process adopted by the decision-making committee. 

 
(5) The chairperson and deputy chairperson of the committee which was responsible 

for the decision which is the subject of the call-in shall not have voting rights at a 
meeting of the committee appointed in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) of this 
standing order. 

 
(6) The members who submitted the call-in, or a member on their behalf,  shall be 

invited to attend the meeting at which the decision subject to the call-in is 
considered and may, upon the request of the chairperson, address the meeting, 
but shall not have voting rights. 

 
(7) A committee appointed in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) of this standing 

order may— 
(a) refer the decision back to the decision maker; 
(b) in the case of a decision taken under delegated authority, support the 

decision; or 
(c) in the case of a decision for ratification by the council, refer the decision to the 

council. 
 

Page 25



 24

(8) Where a decision has been supported in accordance with sub-paragraph (7) of 
this standing order, that decision shall— 
(a) be approved; 
(b) be inserted in the Register of Decisions; and 
(c) become operative from the date of the meeting at which the committee 

appointed in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) of this standing order 
confirmed support for the decision. 

 
 

CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
48 Members must have due regard to the provisions of the Northern Ireland Local 

Government Code of Conduct for Councillors in relation to their conduct during the whole 
of the proceedings of a meeting of a Committee. 

 

MODE OF ADDRESS, OFFENSIVE EXPRESSION AND DISORDERLY CONDUCT 
 
49 The provisions of Standing Orders 29 to 32 shall apply in relation to the meetings of 

Committees, subject to the provision that a Member may remain seated when speaking 
and that the word “Committee” be substituted for the word “Council” and the word 
“Chairperson” for the words “Lord Mayor” as appropriate. 

 
RULING OF THE CHAIRPERSON 
 
50 The ruling of the Chairperson of the Committee upon all questions of order, and of 

matters arising in debate, shall be final, and shall not be open to discussion. 
 

Page 26



 25

 
SECTION 3 

 
MISCELLANEOUS STANDING ORDERS 

 
CORPORATE SEAL 

 
51 The Corporate Seal of the Council shall be kept in a safe place at all times when not in 

use. 
 

 (a) Every document sealed shall be attested and a record kept in a book containing 
particulars of the documents sealed. 

 

 (b) The Corporate Seal shall not be set to any document unless a resolution of the 
Council shall be passed in that behalf or unless the Council shall have passed a 
resolution authorising any particular Committee to affix the Common Seal to any 
particular documents; but a resolution of the Council (or of a Committee approved 
by the Council) authorising the acceptance of any tender, the purchase, sale, 
letting, or taking of any property, the issue of any stock, the presentation of any 
petition, memorial or address, the making of any contract, or any other matter or 
thing, shall be sufficient authority for the Lord Mayor or his/her Deputy or Chief 
Executive and Town Clerk to affix the Corporate Seal to any document necessary 
to give effect to such resolution. 

 

 
PROPERTY, PURCHASES, LEASING 

 
 

NOTIFICATION OF ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY 
 

52 Consent for the acquisition, disposal or development of land must be obtained from the 
Strategic Policy and Resources Committee. 

 
         Consent to re-appropriate land held or obtained for a particular purpose will require the 

consent of that Committee also. Such re-appropriation to include the holding of land for 
the development or future development of the district. 

 
53 Declarations that land has become surplus must be reported and approved by the 

Strategic Policy and Resources Committee. 
 

CONTRACTS 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

 In these Standing Orders:- 
 

 (a) the expression ‘the Council’ shall include where appropriate a Committee or person 
acting in accordance with delegated authority on behalf of the Council. 

 

 (b) ‘Chief Officer’ shall mean the Director of any Department concerned with any 
particular contract or the Town Solicitor 

 

 (c) ‘the statutory amount’ shall mean £30,000 (exclusive of VAT) or such other amount 
as shall be determined from time to time by the Department of the Environment for 
Northern Ireland under Section 100 (1) of the Local Government Act (Northern 
Ireland) 1972. 

 
 
 

Page 27



 26

 

COMPLIANCE 
 

54 Every contract governed by these Standing Orders shall comply with the relevant 
requirements of national and European Community legislation. 

 

EXCEPTIONS 
 

55 Exceptions from Standing Orders relating to contracts can only be allowed:- 
 

 (a) by direction of the Council acting on a recommendation of a Chief Officer that the 
exception is justified in special circumstances; or 

 

(b) by a Chief Officer certifying that there is an extreme urgency, and provided that 
he/she has first consulted the Chairman of the appropriate Committee and the 
Director of Corporate Services, and that the action is subsequently reported to the 
next meeting of that Committee; 

 
In either case exceptions will only be permissible if the Chief Officer has consulted the 
Town Solicitor and the proposed exception has been agreed. 
 

  

ESTIMATES 
 

56 Before entering into a contract for the execution of work which is likely to cost more than 
the statutory amount, the Chief Officer shall obtain a written estimate of the probable 
expense and also, where practicable, an estimate of annual maintenance expenses. 

 

TENDERING 
 

57 Every contract for the supply of services, goods or materials, or the execution of work, 
and which is likely to exceed the statutory amount in value shall, subject to permitted 
exceptions, be made subject to tender in accordance with one of the following 
procedures:- 

 

  (i) OPEN TENDERS 
 

   At least ten days’ public notice must be given in more than one local 
newspaper circulating in the Council’s district and in any other newspapers or trade 
journals as the Chief Officer considers appropriate.  The advertisement must state the 
nature and purpose of the contract, and indicate a date by which tenders must be 
received.  Where appropriate, the advertisement of contracts must comply with the 
requirements of European Community procurement legislation in regard to advertising in 
the Official Journal. 

 
  (ii) SPECIAL SELECT LIST 
 

   Public notice must be given in respect of a particular contract in the manner 
set out in paragraph (i) inviting applications from interested persons to be 
placed on an approved list. 

 

  (iii) STANDING SELECT LIST 
 

   Tenders must be invited from amongst a list of persons who have been invited 
by public notice given in similar manner as in paragraph (i) to have their 
names placed on a list of persons able and willing to tender for contracts for 
the supply of goods or materials of specified categories, values or amounts, or 
for the execution of specified categories of works.  This select list shall:- 

 

   (a) be compiled and maintained by the Chief Officer; 
 

Page 28



 27

   (b) contain the names of all persons who wish to be included in it and who 
are approved by the Council; 

 

   (c) indicate whether a person whose name is included in it is approved for 
contracts for all, or only some, of the specified categories, values or 
amounts; and  

 

   (d) be amended as required from time to time and reviewed following public 
notice in the manner set out in paragraph (i) at intervals not exceeding 
five years.  Where practicable, each person whose name appears on an 
existing list shall be asked if he/she wishes his/her name to remain in the 
reviewed list. 

 

 Where a Select List is formed, invitations to tender for the contract shall be sent to not 
less than four of the persons included in the list, to be selected by the Chief Officer and 
approved by the Council, or if fewer than four persons have applied and are considered 
suitable to all those persons It shall be a condition of tendering, and of inclusion or 
retention on a Select List, that a contractor shall not be an unqualified person for the 
purposes of Sections 41 to 43 of the Fair Employment (Northern Ireland) Act 1989. 

 
 A Register of Tenderers and Contractors shall be kept recording the names of tenderers 

and contractors who have withdrawn their tenders after acceptance or who have 
committed a serious breach of their contracts, together with details of the facts.  The 
Register shall be consulted when tenders are being considered in order that any record 
therein of a tenderer shall be taken into account when considering his tender. . 

 
         In appropriate cases the selection of a contractor may be made on the basis of a call off 

contract or framework agreement subject to the Chief Officer obtaining legal advice 
confirming that such action is lawful and reporting the matter to Strategic Policy & 
Resources Committee. 

 

ENGAGEMENT OF CONSULTANTS 
 

58 (a) It shall be a condition of the engagement of any architect, engineer, surveyor or 
other consultant (who is not an officer of the Council) who is retained to supervise a 
contract on behalf of the Council that he/she will - 

 

  (i) comply with these Standing Orders; 
 

  (ii) produce for inspection to the Chief Officer on request all records kept by 
him/her in relation to the contract. 

 

 (b) An architect, engineer or other consultant on contracts shall not receive any 
payment in commission or fees on any extra work over the approved contract price 
unless the Council approves the extra work beforehand. 

 

ADVERTISING AND RECEIPT OF TENDERS 
 

59 (a) All Council advertisements inviting tenders or inviting applications to be included on 
a Select List shall be signed by the Director to whom all tenders shall be addressed. 

 

 (b) Advertisements shall state - 
 

  (i) that a tender will only be considered if it is received in a plain sealed envelope 
marked ‘Tender for (subject)’, with no marking on the envelope to indicate the 
identity of the sender; 

 

  (ii) that tenders sent by post should be registered or sent by recorded delivery; 
 

  (iii) that tenders must reach the office of the Director by a certain time. 
 

Page 29



 28

 (c) Any tender received after the specified time shall be returned promptly to the 
tenderer.  The tender may be opened to ascertain the name of the tenderer but no 
details of the tender shall be disclosed.  However, a tender may be considered 
where the Director is satisfied that there is evidence of posting in time for delivery 
by the specified time in the normal course of postal delivery. 

 

 (d) As soon as a tender is received, a numbered receipt shall be given and recorded by 
the Director and the receipt number shall be marked on the tender.  Pending their 
opening, all tenders shall be kept securely in the custody of the Director. 

 

 (e) Tenders for any contract shall be opened by the Director in sufficient time to enable 
them to be considered by the Committee concerned.  Every tender shall be checked 
against the register of receipts to ensure that all tenders received have been 
accounted for and shall be initialled by the person opening same.  The tenders shall 
then be submitted for consideration by the Committee. 

 

 (f) Where examination of tenders reveals errors or discrepancies which would affect 
the tender figure(s) in an otherwise successful tender, the tenderer must be given 
details of such errors and discrepancies and afforded an opportunity of confirming 
or withdrawing his/her offer.  If the tenderer withdraws, the next tenderer in 
competitive order is to be examined and dealt with in the same way.  Any exception 
to this procedure may only be authorised by the Council after consideration of a 
report by the Chief Officer. 

 

 (g) A tender other than the lowest tender, if payment is to be made by the Council, or 
the highest tender, if payment is to be received by the Council, shall not be 
accepted until the Council shall have considered a report from the Chief Officer as 
to the reasons for his/her recommendation. 

 

SEALING, DAMAGES AND BONDS 
 

60 (a) Every contract which exceeds the statutory amount in value shall be made under 
the Corporate Seal. 

 

 (b) Every written contract shall specify - 
 

  (i) the work to be done, or the services to be provided, or the goods or materials 
to be supplied; 

 

  (ii) the price to be paid, with a statement of discounts or other deductions; and 
 

(iii)  the time or times within which the contract is to be carried out.  
 

 (c) Every contract which exceeds the statutory amount in value and which is for the 
execution of works (or for the supply of goods or materials by a particular date or 
series of dates) shall provide for liquidated damages or the making good by the 
contractor of any loss incurred by the Council in case the contract is not duly 
performed. 

 

 (d) Where a contract is estimated to exceed a statutory amount in value and is for the 
execution of works (or for the supply of goods and materials by a particular date or 
series of dates), a Performance Bond or other adequate security shall not be 
required unless there are sound commercial reasons for their use. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



 29

SPECIFICATIONS AND STANDARDS 
 

61 (a) All tenders for the execution of works or the supply of goods or materials shall be 
based so far as possible, except to the extent that the Council in a particular case 
otherwise decides, on a definite specification. 

 

 (b) All written contracts shall require, as a minimum, that goods and materials shall be 
in accordance with the relevant British Standards Institution and European 
Community standards and specifications. 

 

OTHER CONTRACT CONDITIONS 
 

62 Every written contract for the execution of works or for the supply of goods and services 
and having a value exceeding the statutory amount shall provide that the Council can 
cancel the contract and recover any resulting losses if the contractor or his/her 
employees or agents with or without his/her knowledge:- 

 

 (a) does anything improper to influence the Council to award him/her the contract; or 
 

 (b) commits an offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 to 1916, the 
Bribery Act 2010 or Sections46 or 47 of the Local Government Act (Northern 
Ireland) 1972or any other criminal offence relating to the procurement and 
execution of the contract. 

 

CONTRACTS WITH MEMBERS OR OFFICERS OF COUNCIL 
 

63 The Chief Executive shall report to the Council  any case where it comes to his/her notice 
that a Member or officer of the Council has any interest in any transaction with the 
Council. 

 
 

GENERAL 
 

AMENDMENT TO STANDING ORDERS AND REPEALS 
 

64 These Standing Orders may be altered or rescinded by resolution of the Council passed 
at one meeting and confirmed at another. 

 

Page 31



 30

 
 

Appendix 1 
 

 
PROTOCOL FOR DECISION MAKING  
BY THE LICENSING COMMITTEE 

  
 
Introduction 
 

1. The following protocol has been developed for use by the Licensing Committee (‘the 
Committee’). It should be read alongside relevant provisions of the Council’s 
Standing Orders and the Code of Conduct for Councillors and is not intended to 
replace either document. The key aims of the protocol are to ensure that: 
 

i. Those who apply for, or object to, licences or permits before the 
Committee are able to make informed representations and know the case 
which they have to meet; and 

ii. The Committee makes decisions in a soundly based, lawful, fair and 
transparent way. 

 
 
Representations to Committee 
 

2. Applicants, statutory consultees, and objectors (‘the parties’) to an application will be 
present whilst representations are being made in relation to that application. That is 
subject to the following conditions: 

 
i. Deputations shall be heard in the following order: 

a. Statutory consultees or other notice parties; 
b. Objectors and/or their representatives; 
c. Applicant and/or their representatives and/or those supporting the 

application. 
 

ii. Where more than one application is received in relation to a street trading 
site, deputations will be heard in alphabetical order according to the 
surnames of the applicants. Every applicant will be admitted to the 
meeting for the time during which deputations are made in respect of the 
site;  

 
iii. Such deputations, unless otherwise agreed in advance by the Committee, 

shall consist of no more than 3 persons. Where there are more than 3 
objectors or groups of objectors they will be required to arrange a single 
deputation to express their representations; 

 
iv. The privilege of such deputation shall be confined to the presentation of a 

statement and the making of a short address either by each member of 
the deputation or, should they so wish, by their nominated spokesperson 
or legal adviser; 

 
v. Each deputation shall be permitted. So far as is reasonably practicable, a 

maximum of 5 minutes to address the Committee. Where more than one 
person wishes to make representation the 5 minutes should be shared 
between the members of the deputation; 

 

Page 32



 31

vi. All members of a deputation must continue to be seated and remain silent 
whilst other deputations are being made to the Committee; 

 
vii. Cross-examination between persons making representations to 

Committee shall not be permitted; 
viii. Once all deputations have been made, the parties shall be permitted an 

opportunity to clarify any issues which may have arisen from the oral 
representations of another deputation. This will be strictly limited to 
responding to any such issue and will not be another opportunity to 
rehearse their representations; 

   
ix. The Committee may, upon advice from officers, exclude any deputation 

from being present during the whole or part of the time when any other 
deputations are being made due to:- 
 

• the confidential nature of information relevant to the application to 
be discussed; or 

• For such other reasons as may be appropriate; 
 

x. The Committee may seek clarification from those who have spoken on 
any issues raised by them but should not enter into a debate with them; 
 

xi. Officers can address any issues raised during the course of 
representations from any deputation and the Committee can question 
officers; and 

 
xii. The Chairman may agree to accept representations outside these 

procedures under exceptional circumstances upon advice from officers.  
 

 
Submission of representations to Council 
 

3. Each deputation shall submit a prepared statement in advance of the meeting in a 
format as required by the Committee. 
 

4. The statement, along with any other supporting information, must be provided in 
sufficient time which, unless circumstances dictate otherwise, shall be 3 weeks prior 
to the date of the Committee at which the matter is to be considered and the 
statement shall be included in the report to Committee. 

 
5. Save for exceptional circumstances, all material supplied to the Committee will be 

shared with the parties. In particular; 
 

i. Objectors will receive the material supplied on behalf of the applicant or 
representatives in support of an application; 

ii. Applicants will receive the material supplied on behalf of objectors in 
opposition to an application; and 

iii. All parties to an application shall be supplied with the report and all 
appendices thereto which is to be presented to Committee apart from any 
information which is restricted by virtue of the confidentiality provisions in 
the Council’s publication policy. 

 
6. Any relevant information which was not made available for inclusion in the report to 

Committee in advance of the meeting must be received by the Building Control 
Service (in writing or by email) no later than 12.00noon two working days prior to the 
meeting. Any such information may then be verified or investigated and must also be 
supplied to all the parties to an application in advance of the meeting. Failure to do 

Page 33



 32

so may result in either the documentation being disregarded or the hearing being 
deferred. 
 

7. Any documentation which is provided directly to any members of the Council must 
also be copied to the Building Control Service so as to ensure that the issues raised 
can be fully investigated by officers prior to the Committee hearing. Failure to do so 
may result in either the documentation being disregarded or the hearing being 
deferred. 

 
 
Role of Committee Chairman 
 

8. It is the role of the Committee Chairman to chair the proceedings in such a way as to 
facilitate decisions which are consistent with the Committee’s aims and to ensure 
that licensing decisions are properly debated. 
 

9. The Chairman will ensure that those making representations to the Committee 
adhere, as far as is practicable, to any time limits fixed for such presentations. These 
time limits will have been communicated to those making representations in advance 
of the meeting. 

 
10. The Chairman may at any time during the hearing of deputations, if s/he thinks it 

necessary to secure order, direct the removal of any individual from the meeting, or 
order that the meeting be cleared of all deputations. 

 
11. When hearing deputations, the Chairman will only permit questions to be put to 

persons appearing before the Committee and will require members engaging in 
debate to desist, until such time as all relevant information has been received. 

 
12. The Chairman may bring the questioning of any person appearing before the 

Committee to a close provided s/he is satisfied that all relevant issues have been 
addressed. The Chairman may also prevent duplication of questions being put. 

 
13. In any circumstances in which relevant information has been omitted from the 

information presented to the Committee, or the information appears to be deficient or 
appears to require further clarification or investigation, the Committee should 
consider deferring consideration of the matter to the subsequent monthly meeting of 
the Committee to allow the relevant information to be brought before it.  
 

14. The Chairman may permit any member of Council who is not a member of the 
Committee to appear before the Committee and make representations but the 
member cannot vote or take any other part in the proceedings. 

 
15. If a member of the Committee moves that the question be put to a vote and the 

Chairman is of the opinion that the application before the Committee has been 
sufficiently discussed, s/he shall put the motion to the vote. 

 
16. The Chairman shall, if necessary, seek clarification on any proposal put by any 

member before a motion is put to a vote. 
 
 
Role of Committee Members 
 

17. The Committee’s aim will be to make decisions which are sound, lawful, fair and 
transparent. In particular, members of the Committee should ensure that they take 
into account all relevant considerations and leave out of account irrelevant 
considerations.  

Page 34



 33

 
18. Members must act fairly and be seen to act fairly. This means that they must have 

an open mind when considering an application and not pre-determine, or appear to 
pre-determine, an application before all of the evidence has been heard.  
 

19. In considering any application only those members of Committee that have been 
present to consider representations from all deputations and any other information 
presented in relation to that application shall be permitted to vote on the matter. 
 

20. Members of the Committee who have any pecuniary interest or other personal 
interest in a particular decision of the Committee should declare same and withdraw 
from the meeting. 
 

21. Any member of the Committee who feels they cannot remain impartial and wishes to 
support an applicant or objector at a Committee meeting can do so in their capacity 
as a local Councillor.  If they do so, they can appear before the Committee and 
make representations but the member cannot vote or take any other part in the 
proceedings. 
 

22. Only those members sitting on the Committee will be permitted to engage in the 
questioning of those giving presentations or making representations to the 
Committee. 

 
23. If legal advice is provided by Legal Services, the Committee must have regard to 

any such advice before reaching a decision. 

Page 35



 34

 
 

Appendix 2  
 

OPERATING PROTOCOL  
 

BELFAST CITY COUNCIL PLANNING COMMITTEE  
  
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
 
1. The following protocol has been developed for use by the Planning Committee (‘the 

Committee’). It should be read alongside relevant provisions of the Council’s Standing 

Orders and the Code of Conduct for Councillors and is not intended to replace either 

document. The key aims of the protocol are to ensure that: 

 

a) Those who apply for, or object to, applications before the Committee are able to 

make informed representations and know the case which they have to meet; and 

b) The Committee makes decisions in a sound, lawful, and transparent way and in a 

timely and efficient manner. 

 

REMIT OF THE COMMITTEE  

 

2. The primary roles of the Committee will include: 

 

a) Exercising the Council’s powers and duties in relation to local planning 

policies, plan strategies, the statement of community involvement and any 

other development plan documents;  

 

b) Exercising the Council’s powers in relation to listed buildings; 

 

c) Consideration of applications for planning permission  and development 

management in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation; 

 

d) Responding to consultations issued by the Department of Environment, or 

any other Department, in relation to planning matters; 

 

e) Responding to consultations in relation to regionally significant or major 

applications to be determined by the Department of Environment; 

 

Page 36



 35

f) Scrutiny of the Council’s delivery of planning functions, to include 

development management, enforcement, etc .  

 

3. More detailed terms of reference can be found in XXXXXXXXXXXXXXX. 

 

FREQUENCY & TIME OF MEETINGS 

 

4. It is recommended that the Committee should meet every month; though there should 

be flexibility for additional meetings if required. 

 

5. Dates and times will be advertised at least 5 days in advance on the Council website. 

 

SCHEME OF DELEGATION  

 

6. As per the requirements of Section 31 of the Planning Act (NI) 2011 the Council will 

operate a scheme of delegation for planning outlining delegation both to the 

Committee and officers (this can be found at XXXXXXXXXXXX).  The overall objective 

is to ensure that arrangements for decision-making on applications for local 

developments are efficient whilst ensuring that proposals that raise strong local views 

or sensitive issues for the local environment can be dealt with by elected members. 

Delegating determination of some planning applications to officers is also seen as a 

critical factor affecting the overall performance of the development management 

process as it helps ensure that decisions are taken at the most appropriate level, 

procedures are clear and transparent, costs are minimised and members have more 

time to concentrate on complex applications.          

 

7. In respect of development management, authority is delegated to appointed officers for 

local, generally non-contentious, applications.    

 
8. Enforcement activities are also delegated to appointed officers.  However the 

Committee will receive periodical reports on enforcement activities. 

 

9. Arrangements are also in place within the scheme that allow members to request that 

an application, which would normally fall within the scheme of delegation, be referred 

to the Committee for determination.     

 

10. Major applications, applications made by the Council or an elected member of the 

Council, and applications relating to land in which the Council has an interest in, 

cannot be delegated.   

Page 37



 36

 

 

FORMAT OF MEETINGS 

 

11.  Committee meetings (dates, times and papers) will be published on the Council’s 

website at least 5 calendar days in advance. 

 

12. Papers will include the following: 

a) Minutes of the previous meeting for approval as a complete record;  

b) Details of delegated applications for noting only by the Committee; 

c) Details of proposed pre-determination hearings; 

d) Details of non-delegated applications (including those brought back 

following deferral) for consideration by the Committee; 

e) Details of applications of regional significance with an impact upon the 

Council area in respect of which the Council is a statutory  consultee or 

where it may wish to make representations; 

f) Papers relating to the development of policy. 

 

13. All members of the Council will receive a weekly list of all applications which are 

delegated to officers in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 

 

14. If a member wishes to request that a delegated application is brought before the 

Committee this must be done, in writing or by email, within 14 days of the application 

being publically advertised.   Members should notify Democratic Services of this 

request stating clearly their reasons, which must be material considerations.  

Democratic Services will then liaise with the Town Solicitor’s office and the authorised 

senior planning officer to determine whether the reasons which have been set out are 

material considerations and are of significant weight to allow the application to be 

referred to Committee. The Town Solicitor or authorised senior planning officer will 

advise the relevant member of their decision.  

 

15. The Town Solicitor, in consultation with the authorised senior planning officer, may 

refer a decision back to Committee for the purposes of reconsideration. 

 

16. A quorum, as outlined in the Council’s standing orders, is required for the Committee 

to convene. 

 

Page 38



 37

17. Councillors will be required to declare an interest in any item on the agenda at the 

beginning of the meeting and must then leave the meeting for that item.  Members will 

then be invited to return to the meeting room and notified of the Committee’s decision 

before the meeting recommences.   

 

18. The Committee will discuss those applications that have not been delegated before 

taking a vote on one of the following options: 

a) Approve the application with conditions as recommended; 

b) Approve the application with amendments to the recommended conditions;  

c) Refuse the application for the reasons recommended; 

d) Refuse the application with additional or different reasons; 

e) Refuse the application contrary to officers recommendations; 

f) Return the application to officers with a direction for additional information or 

clarification. 

 

19. The Committee can defer consideration of an application to a subsequent meeting for 

further information, further negotiations or a site visit. As deferrals have an adverse 

effect on processing times, and the applicant can lodge an appeal when the Council 

has not made a decision, the Committee will generally only defer an application once. 

The member proposing deferral must provide clear reasons as to why a deferral is 

necessary. 

 

20. The Chair has a casting vote.   

 

21. Members must be present for the entire item, including the officer’s introduction and 

update; otherwise they cannot take part in the debate or vote on that item. 

 
PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS  

 

22. Meetings of the Committee will be open to the public; however, numbers will be limited 

according to the meeting venue capacity and associated fire and safety regulations.  

 

23. Seating for the applicant, objectors and statutory consultees will be reserved but only 

for the time in which their application is being considered.   

 

24. Only those who have made written submissions in respect of the application shall be 

permitted to make oral representations before the Committee.  

 

Page 39



 38

25. Each deputation who wishes to appear before the Committee shall submit a prepared 

statement in advance of the meeting in a format as required by the Council. 

 

26. The statement, along with any other supporting information, must be provided in 

sufficient time which, unless circumstances dictate otherwise, shall be 2 weeks prior to 

the date of the Committee at which the matter is to be considered and the statement 

shall be included in the report to Committee. Speakers will not be permitted to circulate 

papers to members at the Committee meeting.  

 
27. The Committee may agree to accept representations outside these procedures but will 

only do so in exceptional circumstances.  

 
28. All Committee papers will be available online. However, access to some 

documentation may be restricted by virtue of the Council’s publication policy. 

Information which is determined to be exempt by virtue of Schedule 6 of the Local 

Government (Northern Ireland) Act 2014 may be published where the Council 

considers that the public interest in disclosing same outweighs the public interest in 

maintaining the exemption. 

 

29. Any documentation which is provided directly to any members of the Council in relation 

to a particular application must also be copied to the Committee clerk/planning section

 so as to ensure that the issues raised can be fully investigated by officers prior to the 

Committee hearing. Failure to do so may result in either the documentation being 

disregarded or the hearing being deferred. 

 

30. Deputations shall be heard in the following order: 

a. Statutory consultees1; 

b. Objectors and/or their representatives; 

c. Applicant and/or their representatives and/or those supporting the application. 

 

31. Statutory consultees shall only be invited to attend Committee where they have 

objected to an application. If a member requires the attendance of a statutory 

consultee in other circumstances, this must be done at least one week in advance of 

the Committee meeting. 

 

                                                
1
 As per Articles 13 &14 and Schedule 3 of the Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 
(Northern Ireland) 2015 

Page 40



 39

32. Deputations, unless otherwise agreed in advance by the Committee, shall consist of 

no more than 3 persons. Where there are more than 3 objectors or groups of objectors 

they will be required to arrange a single deputation to express their representations. 

 

33. Deputation shall be confined to the presentation of a statement and the making of a 

short address either by each member of the deputation or, should they so wish, by 

their nominated spokesperson or legal adviser. 

 

34. Each deputation shall be permitted a maximum of 5 minutes to address the 

Committee. Where more than one person wishes to make representation the 5 

minutes should be shared between the members of the deputation. 

 

35. All members of a deputation must continue to be seated and remain silent whilst other 

deputations are being made to the Committee. 

 

36. Cross-examination, discussion or any type of debate between persons making 

representations to Committee shall not be permitted.  

 
37. Once all deputations have been made, the parties shall be permitted an opportunity to 

rebut any factual inaccuracies which may have arisen from the oral representations of 

another deputation and in respect of which they have not had an opportunity to 

comment. This will be strictly limited to responding to any such issue and the party will 

not be permitted to rehearse any representations which have already been made.  

 

38. The Committee may, upon advice from officers, exclude any deputation from being 

present during the whole or part of the time when any other deputations are being 

made due to the confidential nature of information relevant to the application to be 

discussed; or for such other reasons as may be deemed appropriate. 

 

39. The Committee may seek clarification from those who have spoken on any issues 

raised by them but should not enter into a debate. 

 

40. Officers can address any issues raised during the course of representations from any 

deputation and the Committee may seek clarification from officers. 

 

41. The Chair will ensure that those making representations to the Committee adhere to 

the time limits set out in this Protocol. These time limits will have been communicated 

to those making representations in advance of the meeting. 

 

Page 41



 40

42. The Chair may at any time during the hearing of deputations, if they think it necessary 

to secure order, suspend the meeting and direct the removal of any individual from the 

meeting, or order that the meeting be cleared of all deputations. 

 

43. When hearing deputations, the Chair will require members engaging in debate to 

desist, until such time as all relevant information has been received. 

 

44. The Chair may bring the questioning of any person appearing before the Committee to 

a close provided s/he is satisfied that all relevant issues have been addressed. The 

Chairman may also prevent duplication of questions being put. 

 

45. If a member of the Committee moves that the question be put to a vote and the Chair 

is of the opinion that the application before the Committee has been sufficiently 

discussed, he shall put the motion to the vote. 

 

DECISIONS CONTRARY TO OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 

46. The decision as to whether to grant an application lies with the Committee and it is 

entitled to come to a decision contrary to officer recommendations.  

 

47. Any such decision may be subject to legal challenge and members must therefore 

ensure that the rationale for the decision are fully explained and based on proper 

planning considerations.   

 

48. The senior authorised planning officer and/or the Council’s solicitor should always be 

given the opportunity to explain the implications of the Committee’s decision prior to a 

vote being taken on any such proposal.   

 

49. The reasons for the decision contrary to the officer’s recommendation must be formally 

recorded in the minutes and a copy placed on the planning application file / electronic 

record.   

 

DECISIONS CONTRARY TO PLANNING POLICY  

 

50. In general, planning decisions should be taken in accordance with the local 

development plan and any other associated planning policy documents.  If a 

Committee member proposes, seconds or supports a decision contrary to the local 

development plan they will need to clearly identify and understand the planning 

Page 42



 41

reasons for doing so, and clearly demonstrate how these reasons justify departure 

from the local development plan.  The reasons for any decisions which are made 

contrary to the development plan must be formally recorded in the minutes and a copy 

placed on the planning application file / electronic record.   

 

MANDATORY PRE-DETERMINATION HEARINGS  

 

51. The Committee must hold pre-determination hearings for those major developments 

which have been subject to notification (i.e. referred to the Department but returned to 

the Council for determination)2 prior to the application being determined.   

 

52. Paragraph 22-43 of this Protocol shall also apply to pre-determination hearings. 

 

53. In deciding whether to hold a pre-determination hearing, members should take into 

account the following factors (please note this list is not exclusive): 

a) the relevance of the objections in planning terms; 

b) the extent to which relevant objections are considered to be representative of 

the community, particularly in the context of pre-application community 

consultation;  

c) the potential of causing undue delay in the decision making process; and 

d) the numbers of representations against the proposal in relation to where the 

proposal is and the number of people likely to be affected by the proposal.     

 

54. The Committee may also hold a pre-determination hearing, at their own discretion, 

where they consider it necessary, to take on board local community views as well as 

those in support of the development.   

 
55. The applicant and any other person who makes representations to the Council in 

respect of the application will be afforded an opportunity to appear before the 

Committee. 

 

56. Any hearing will take place after the expiry of the period for making representations on 

the application but before the Committee hears the application.  The Council will 

endeavour to hold pre-determination hearings on a separate date from the Committee 

meeting at which it will be considered; however this may not always be possible.  

 

                                                
2
 Regulation 7 of the Planning (Development Management) Regulations (NI) 2015 

Page 43



 42

57. For these hearings the case officer will produce a report detailing the processing of the 

application to date and the planning issues to be considered.  If the Committee decides 

to hold the hearing on the same day as it wishes to determine the application the report 

to councillors will also contain a recommendation.   

 

 

PREPARATION OF PLANNING POLICY DOCUMENTS 

 

58. Planning policy documents include the local development plan, local planning policies, 

plan strategies, the statement of community involvement and any other development 

plan documents or guidance. 

 

59. The Committee should have a high level of involvement in the preparation and approval 

of planning policy documents.   

 

60. Once approved by the Committee, planning policy documents will be referred to the 

Council’s Strategic Policy and Resource Committee who will assess the document to 

determine whether it consistent with the broader strategic objectives of the Council.  

 

61. If Strategic Policy and Resource Committee considers any of the said planning policy 

documents to be inconsistent with those objectives, the Committee will reconsider the 

relevant document in light of the issues raised by the Strategic Policy and Resource 

Committee. 

 

62. Once the Committee has reconsidered the relevant document it shall be reported to the 

Strategic Policy and Resource Committee and will be subject to ratification by full 

Council.  

 

SITE VISITS 

 

63. Site visits may be arranged subject to Committee agreement.  They should normally 

only be requested where the impact of the proposed development is difficult to visualise 

from the plans and other available material and the expected benefit outweighs the 

delay and additional costs that will be incurred.  

 

64. Only members of the Committee and officers should attend organised site visits. 

 
65. Members will not carry out their own unaccompanied site visits as there may be issues 

around permission to access the land, they will not have all of the relevant information 

Page 44



 43

from the relevant planning officer and, if a councillor is seen with an applicant or 

objector, it might lead to allegations of bias.   

 

66. A nominated officer will record the date of the visit, attendees and any other relevant 

information.     

 
67. The Chair, or Vice Chair in the Chair’s absence, will ensure that the site visit is 

conducted in accordance with this protocol and the Code of Conduct for Councillors. 

 
68. A statement will be read out by the Chair before the commencement  of the site visit to 

remind members of the purpose of the visit and the terms of this protocol. The planning 

officer will then remind members of the proposal and the main issues. 

 

A nominated officer will prepare a written report of the members’ site visit which should then 
be presented to the Committee meeting at which the application is to be determined. 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



 44

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Guide to Council Standing Orders 

 
The following notes are aimed at explaining the more commonly used Standing Orders in a 
user friendly way.  The notes do not amend or replace any of the Standing Orders 
themselves. 
 
At Meetings of the Monthly Council 
 
Order of Business – Standing Order 11 
 
At the Council meeting the order of business will be as follows: 
 

1. The Lord Mayor may read a passage from the scriptures – at the discretion of the 
Lord Mayor. 

2. The Chief Executive will read out the summons for the meeting. 
3. The Lord Mayor will propose that the minutes of the last meeting(s) of the Council are 

approved as a correct record. 
4. The Lord Mayor and/or the Chief Executive will make the Council meeting aware of 

any official announcements – such as news of any marriages, births or deaths 
affecting Members of Council or other persons associated with the Council or the 
City. 

5. If requests have been received in accordance with Standing Order 8 for any 
deputations to be heard then the Council will be requested to agree to receive them. 

6. The minutes of the meetings of the Standing Committees will be approved and 
adopted. 

7. Any matters previously called-in under the provisions of Standing Order 47 or 13(k) 
will be dealt with.  A separate section within the Minute Book will be set aside for 
such matters. 

8. Notices of Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 13 will then be 
considered. 

 
Council Minutes to be Confirmed – Standing Order 12 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting of the full Council need to be approved as a correct 
record.  The minutes do not need to be adopted so no amendments can be made to them. 
 
Committee Minutes to be Submitted and Discussed – Standing Orders 14 & 15 
 
The minutes of the Committee meetings which have taken place since the last Council 
meeting will have been circulated to Members in advance of the meeting as part of the 
minute book. 
 

• The Chairperson of each Committee will propose that “the minutes of the 
proceedings of the ……Committee are approved and adopted. What they are really 
doing is asking that all of the decisions recorded in the minutes of that Committee 
meeting are rubber-stamped and that officers are authorised to act on those 
decisions. 

Page 46



 45

• Any Member who wishes to change or reject any one of the decisions recorded in 
those minutes can move an amendment and they must state what decision they are 
trying to change and what the effect of the change is. 

• This must be relevant to the original decision but must not try to lay a greater 
financial burden than the original decision contained in the minute of the Committee. 

• Only one amendment on that Committee decision can be considered at a time in 
order to avoid confusion. 

• After the amendment has been seconded and discussed, the Council will vote on the 
amendment. 

• If the majority of Members vote for the amendment then this has the effect of 
changing the Committee’s decision on the matter. 

• When all of the discussion on a set of minutes has been completed and any 
amendments have been voted on, then the minutes (together with and amendments 
made to them at the Council meeting) are approved and adopted. 

 
This process is applied for each of the Committees of the Council in turn as listed on the 
agenda.  Please note that any decisions of the Planning and Licensing Committees which 
are taken under authority delegated to them by the Council (basically any decision in relation 
to a Planning Application or a Licence Application) cannot be amended at the full Council. 
 
Notices of Motion – Standing Order 13 
 
All Notices of Motion will be recorded in full on the Summons for the Council meeting in the 
order in which they were received.  To be valid a Motion must state the name of the 
proposer and the seconder. 
 
The Motion must be about something that the Council has power to do or be about 
something which directly affects the City and its citizens. 
 
If the Motion is about a matter which falls under the remit of one of the Council Committees 
(see Standing Order 37) then the Lord Mayor will have been advised of this and it will be 
referred to that Committee for discussion after it has been formally proposed and seconded 
at the Council meeting and no-one else will be able to speak about that Motion. 
 
It will not be acceptable for a Notice of Motion to be submitted which asks the Council to 
spend money if that has not been previously agreed by a Committee of the Council 
(Standing Order 13(l)).  The reason for this is to prevent the Council being committed to 
spend money without full consideration having been given at the appropriate Committee.  
The Lord mayor can overrule this restriction having consulted with the Chief Executive if the 
matter is one of such urgency that there would not be time for the issue to first be discussed 
at Committee. 
 
Amendments – Standing Order 16 & 17 
 
The types of amendments that can be proposed during a debate on a Committee minute or 
on a Notice of Motion are set out in Standing Order 16. 
 
The general rule is that an amendment must relate directly to the decision which it is seeking 
to change.  An amendment which tries to add a greater financial burden on the Council than 
that contained in the minutes of a Committee meeting will not be acceptable. 
 
Normally all amendments should be written down and handed to the Lord Mayor.  This is to 
ensure that the Lord Mayor is clear about the exact wording of the amendment and so that 
the Chief Executive can read the amendment to the meeting before a vote is taken.  This is 
not always necessary if an amendment is straightforward, for example to do something that 
was defeated at a vote at a Committee meeting and where the wording is contained in the 

Page 47



 46

Committee minute.  However, it is usually better to write out amendments that you wish to 
propose before the meeting starts so that you have them to hand if required. 
 
Points of Order – Standing Order 20 
 
Points of Order may be raised by any Member at any stage during a Council meeting if a 
Member feels that the rules of debate have been breached.  Points of Order should not be 
used to merely interrupt another Member’s speech or to seek to make an observation about 
the general debate or what a specific Member has said during their speech.  The Lord Mayor 
will ask a Member raising a point of order to explain how they feel the rules of debate have 
been breached.  When the Lord Mayor rules on a point of order, the ruling is final and the 
Member must take their seat. 
 
Explanations – Standing Order 21 
 
If a Member is referred to during another Member’s speech and they feel that their position 
has been misrepresented by that Member, then at the conclusion of that Member’s speech 
they may seek permission to give a short explanation of their position and how they feel it 
has been misrepresented.  This should not be a new speech on the matter but merely deal 
with the perceived misrepresentation. 
 
Members to speak once only- Standing Order 22 
 
This standing order applies in respect of any single item on the agenda or contained in the 
minutes. There is no requirement to reserve the right to speak on other matters if they are 
contained in the same set of minutes. Members often reserve the right to speak on other 
matters contained within the same set of minutes in the belief that they are required to do so 
when this is not in fact the case. 
 
Voting – Standing Order 24 
 
Most votes at a Council meeting are taken by a show of hands.  When the Lord Mayor calls 
for a show of hands Members must be in their seats and should clearly raise their hands 
until the staff counting the votes have concluded the count. 
 
If a Member asks for a vote to be recorded, then the division bell will be rung for 1 minute.  
The doors to the Council Chamber will then be locked and a Member will not be able to gain 
access to the Chamber until the vote is concluded.  The Staff will call each Member’s name 
and they should respond “For”, “Against” or “No Vote”.  The manner in which each Member 
voted will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  Members are reminded to speak 
clearly when voting so that staff can accurately record the vote. 
 
Any vote that is required to be taken by Qualified Majority, where 80% of the Members 
present and voting will be required in favour of a decision, will be taken by way of a recorded 
vote. 
 
 
Rulings of the Lord Mayor – Standing Order 32 
 
The Lord Mayor is responsible for the conduct of business at a Council meeting.  The rulings 
of the Lord Mayor on any points of order or any other matter are final and are not open to 
question at the Council meeting. 
 
Frequently asked Questions 
 
Here are a few frequently asked questions about the conduct of business at monthly Council 
meetings. 

Page 48



 47

 
When will the papers for the Council meeting be available? 
 
The summons and the Council minute book will be published electronically 5 days before the 
date of the Council meeting. 
 
How do I submit a Notice of Motion? 
 
An individual Member of Council can submit a notice of motion – so long as it bears the 
name of the proposer and the seconder and is received by the Chief Executive or the 
Democratic Services Manager at least 7 days before the date of the meeting. That means 
that if the Council meeting is at 6.00pm on a Monday evening, then any notices of motion 
must be received by 6.00pm the previous Monday. 
 
 
 
Members of political parties on the Council may wish to discuss the subject of any notice of 
motion with their party colleagues before submitting it to officers.  The Democratic Services 
Manager will be happy to assist any Member in the submission of a notice of motion to 
ensure that it is competent and that it is in proper order. 
 
How do I get a Committee Decision amended at the Council meeting? 
 
Again, a Member will probably wish to discuss any amendment that they wish to propose 
with their party colleagues in advance of the Council meeting. 
 
If you wish to propose an amendment, then you should try to set it out in writing so that the 
wording is clear and so that it can be handed to the officials at the meeting.  The Democratic 
Services Manager is available to assist any Member in preparing amendments. 
 
The amendment must be about a matter which appears in the minutes of a Committee 
before the Council for consideration.  It must not seek to commit the Council to additional 
expenditure over and above that agreed in the original Committee decision. 
 
Are there any things I need to remember when speaking at a Council meeting? 
 
Members should address their comments through the Lord Mayor and should refrain from 
addressing any other Member directly. 
 
The correct form of address when speaking to the Lord Mayor is “Lord Mayor” and when 
referring to another Member they should be referred to as “Alderman” or “Councillor”. 
 
A Member will usually have a time limit of 5 minutes when addressing the meeting (the only 
exception is when proposing a Notice of Motion when the limit is 10 minutes).  The green 
light on the Lord Mayor’s desk and on the walls of the Council Chamber will illuminate when 
the Member has 1 minute of their allotted time remaining.  The lights will switch to red when 
the time is up and the Member should immediately resume their seat. 
 
Members should at all times abide by the Code of Conduct and should refrain from using 
offensive expressions in reference to any Member of the Council. 
 
If the Lord mayor should stand during a Member’s speech, the Member should immediately 
be seated until the Lord mayor resumes his/her seat.  The rulings of the Lord Mayor on any 
matters of order at a meeting are final and should not be questioned by any other Member. 
 
 
 

Page 49



 48

 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



        

 
Belfast District Council (Shadow) 

 

Report to Belfast District Shadow Council 
 
Subject: Agreement on filling Positions of Responsibility 
 
Date:  24 March, 2015 
 
Reporting Officer: Suzanne Wylie, Chief Executive 
 
Contact Officer: Stephen McCrory, Democratic Services Manager (ext. 6314) 

 

1 Relevant Background Information 

1.1 The Transitional Regulations 2014 provide for each new council to hold a second 

Annual Meeting of the council during the shadow period for the purposes of filling 

positions of responsibility for the four year term beginning on 1 April 2015. 

The purpose of this paper is to seek agreement from the new Council upon both the 

method of filling positions of responsibility and the allocation of positions and 

nominations for each of the four years as outlined at Appendix 1.  

1.2 The Local Government Act 2014 provides three different methods which may be used 

to fill the positions of responsibility.  The default method will be d’Hondt - unless at 

the Annual Meeting a qualified majority of the new Council decide to select either the 

Sainte Lague method; or the Single Transferable Vote (election) method.  

The nominating officer of the party for which the chosen method gives the highest 

figure will select the first position of responsibility. 

2.0 Key Issues 

2.1 Determining the positions of responsibility 

The Shadow SP&R Committee on 28 November 2014 recommended that that the 

new Council adopt a Traditional Committee system of governance with 4 Committees 

of 20 places each and 1 Planning Committee of 14 places.  This decision was 

formally ratified at the Shadow Council meeting held on 8 December 2014.   

This results in the automatic creation of 12 positions of responsibility for each year – 

a council chair and deputy chair, five committee chairs and five deputy committee 

chairs – a total of 48 positions over the four year term.      

Page 51

Agenda Item 2



External Representatives  

In addition to the 48 internal positions of responsibility, there are 39 external positions 

of responsibility. 

This results in a total of 87 Positions of Responsibility which must be filled for the 

operation of the new council during the four year term beginning 1 April 2015.  The 

positions of responsibility are outlined in the table below. 

Position Term of 
Appointment 

Number of 
Places 

Lord Mayor 1 year 4 

Deputy Lord Mayor 1 year 4 

Chair SP&R 1 year 4 

Chair City Growth & Regeneration 1year 4 

Chair People & Communities 1 year 4 

Chair Planning 1 year 4 

Chair Licensing 1 year 4 

Dep Chair SP&R 1 year 4 

Dep Chair City Growth & Regeneration  1 year 4 

Dep Chair People & Communities 1 year 4 

Dep Chair Planning 1 year 4 

Dep Chair Licensing 1 year 4 

PCSP place 4 years 9  

DPCSP place 4 years 24 

Partnership Panel 4 years  1 

NI Housing Council 4 years 1 

Arc 21 4 years 3 

Reserve Forces & Cadets Assoc 4 years 1 

  

2.2 Method of filling positions of responsibility 

The Shadow SP&R Committee on 28 November 2014 recommended that the 

d’Hondt table of choices would be used to allocate the positions of responsibility for 

Page 52



the 4 year term starting in April, 2015.   Using this methodology, the Party Nominating 

Officers from each of the parties have agreed upon the proposed allocation of the 87 

positions of responsibility as set out in Appendix 1.  Please note that not all the 

names of the Members to fill the Positions of Responsibility in year 1have been 

received and an updated list will be either sent Members on Monday or tabled at the 

meeting. 

 

3.0 Resource Implications 

3.1 None. 

4.0 Equality and Good Relations Implications 

4.1 None. 

5.0 Call in 

5.1 This decision is subject to call in. 

 

6.0 Recommendations 

6.1 It is recommended that the Shadow Council: 

i. note the information contained in the report;  

ii. agree upon the use of the d’Hondt method of filling of positions of 

responsibility as outlined at point 2.2; and 

iii. approve the pre-agreed allocation of positions of responsibility and 

nominations as set out at Appendix 1 

 

7.0 Documents Attached  

7.1 Appendix 1 – Nominations to positions of responsibility (to be tabled) 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Positions of Responsibility 2015 - 2019 
 

Position Year 1 Year 2 Year3 Year 4 

Lord Mayor SF 
1
 DUP 

2
 ALL 

4
 SF

3
 

Deputy Lord Mayor DUP 
10
 SF 

9
 UUP 

14
 ALL 

11
 

Chair SP&R SDLP 
5
 DUP 

7
 SF 

12
 UUP 

6
 

Deputy Chair SP&R DUP 
32
 SDLP 

29
 DUP 

42
 SF 

34
 

Chair City Growth and 
Regeneration 

SF 
8
 DUP 

15
 SF 

21
 SDLP 

22
 

Deputy Chair City Growth 
and Regeneration 

ALL 
33
 UUP 

39
 UUP 

30
 DUP 

37
 

Chair People & Communities PUP 
17
 SF 

18
 DUP 

20
 ALL 

19
 

Deputy Chair People & 
Communities 

SF 
31
 ALL 

41
 SF 

36
 SDLP 

38
 

Chair Planning SF
 16
 UUP 

23
 SDLP 

13
 SF 

27
 

Deputy Chair Planning PUP 
35
 SF 

44
 ALL 

48
 DUP

 45
 

Chair Licensing DUP 
24
 ALL 

26
 DUP 

28
 SF 

25
 

Deputy Chair Licensing SF 
40
 SDLP 

46
 SF 

43
 UUP 

47
 

 
 

DPCSPs 24 places 

 
SF 

55 SF 
56 SF 

61 SF 
63 

 
DUP 

57 DUP 
62 DUP 

67 DUP 
70 

 
SF 

68 SF 
69 SF 

72 SF 
76 

 
ALL 

58 UUP 
60 DUP 

75 SDLP 
59 

 
SDLP 

65 ALL 
64 ALL 

71 UUP 
66 

 
PUP 

77 SDLP 
73 UUP 

74 DUP 
80 

Page 55



 

PCSP – 9 places SF 
78 SF

81
 SF 

85
 SF 

 
UUP 

83
 DUP 

84
 DUP ALL 

79
 

 
SDLP 

82
    

 
 
 

Outside Organisations 
 

arc21 (3 Positions) TUV 
51
 GREEN 

52
 PBPA 

54
  

Partnership Panel PUP 
53
 

   

NI Housing Council SF 
49
 

   

Reserve Forces & Cadets 
Association 

DUP 
50
 

   

 
 
 

Page 56



 

 

         
 

 
Belfast District Council (Shadow) 

 

Report to Belfast District Shadow Council 
 
Subject: Agreement on the appointment of Councillors to Committees  
 
Date:  30 March 2015 
 
Reporting Officer: Suzanne Wylie, Chief Executive 
 
Contact Officer: Stephen McCrory, Democratic Services Manager (ext. 6314) 

 
 

1.0 Relevant Background Information 

1.1 The purpose of this paper is to: 

i. seek agreement from the new Council upon a method for appointing 

councillors to committees for the term beginning 1 April 2015, and 

ii. to appoint councillors to committees via the selected method. 

Schedule 1 of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014 provides for the 

positions of Chair and Deputy Chair of the council and each committee to be filled as 

‘positions of responsibility’.  Schedule 2 of the 2014 Act puts in place the 

arrangements necessary to appoint the remaining councillors to each of the 

committees. 

2.0 Key Issues 

2.1 Methodology for appointing councillors to committees 

Schedule 2 of the 2014 Act provides for two different methods of proportionality for 

appointing councillors to committees.  The default will be the Quota Greatest 

Remainder method - unless a qualified majority of the new Council decide to select 

the Droop Quota method.  

The Shadow SP&R Committee on 28 November 2014 recommended that the Quota 

Greatest Remainder method would be used to allocate the block of seats which 

each Party and Independent member would receive across the 5 Committees.   

The Committee also recommended that the d’Hondt table of choices would be used 

to decide the order of choices between the Parties when choosing which 

Page 57

Agenda Item 3



 

 

Committee(s) they wished to have any additional places on.  These decisions were 

formally ratified at the Shadow Council meeting held on 8 December 2014.   

2.2 Appointing councillors to committees using the Quota Greatest Remainder 

method  

The Shadow SP&R Committee on 28 November 2014 recommended that that the 

new Council adopt a Traditional Committee system of governance with 4 Committees 

of 20 places each and 1 Planning Committee of 14 places.  This decision was 

formally ratified at the Shadow Council meeting held on 8 December 2014.   

With the Chair and Deputy Chair positions on each of the five committees having 

already been allocated, it is necessary to appoint the remaining 84 members across 

the five standing committees.  

2.4 Based on the Quota Greatest Remainder methodology recommended by Party 

Groups, the Party Nominating Officers have agreed that the following allocations can 

be made to each committee.   

Party Strategic 

Policy & 

Resources 

City Growth & 

Regeneration 

People and 

Communities 

Licensing Planning 

Committee 

SF 7 7 6 6 4 

DUP 5 5 4 4 2 

ALL 3 2 3 2 2 

SDLP 2 2 3 2 2 

UUP 2 3 2 2 2 

PUP 1 1 1 1 1 

TUV 0 0 0 1 1 

Green 0 0 1 1 0 

PBPA 0 0 0 1 0 

Total 20 20 20 20 14 

 

Party Leaders have agreed the nominations as outlined at Appendix 1 which sets 

out the respective Members nominated to each committee. Please note that the 

names of the representatives from the SDLP have not been received as yet and an 

updated list will be either circulated on Monday or tabled at the meeting, depending 

upon when the information is available. 

3.0 Resource Implications 

3.1 None. 

4.0 Equality and Good Relations Implications 

4.1 None. 

Page 58



 

 

5.0 Call in 

5.1 This decision is subject to call in. 

6.0 Recommendations 

6.1 It is recommended that the Shadow Council: 

i. Notes the information contained in the report; 

ii. Approves the nomination of councillors to committees as outlined in Appendix 1. 

7.0 Documents Attached 

7.1 Appendix 1  (to be tabled) –  Nominations to committees as recommended by Party 

Groups 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee Membership 2015-2019 
 
Strategic Policy and Resources Committee 
 

Party  Councillor Name 

SF Councillor McVeigh 

SF Councillor Hargey 

SF Councillor B. Groves 

SF Councillor Corr 

SF Councillor Clarke 

SF Councillor O Donnghaile 

SF Councillor McCabe 

DUP Councillor Robinson 

DUP Councillor Stalford 

DUP Councillor Kingston 

DUP Councillor Haire 

DUP Councillor R. Patterson 

ALL Councillor Long 

ALL Councillor McNamee 

ALL Councillor Jones 

SDLP Councillor Attwood 

SDLP Councillor Boyle 

UUP Councillor Browne 

UUP Councillor Rodgers 

PUP Councillor Hutchinson 

  
  

Page 61



City Growth and Regeneration Committee 
 

Party  Councillor Name 

SF Councillor Hargey 

SF Councillor Beattie 

SF Councillor McAteer 

SF Councillor O Donnghaile 

SF Councillor O’Hara 

SF Councillor Magennis 

SF Councillor Magee 

DUP Councillor Newton 

DUP Councillor Graham 

DUP Councillor Stalford 

DUP Councillor Kingston 

DUP Councillor Spence 

ALL Councillor Howard 

ALL Councillor McDonagh-Brown 

SDLP Councillor Convery 

SDLP Councillor Hanna 

UUP Councillor Craig 

UUP Councillor Dudgeon 

UUP Councillor McGimpsey 

PUP Councillor Kyle 

 
  Page 62



People and Communities Committee 
 

Party  Councillor Name 

SF Councillor B. Groves 

SF Councillor Garrett 

SF Councillor McCabe 

SF Councillor Corr 

SF Councillor Beattie 

SF Councillor Austin 

DUP Councillor McKee 

DUP Councillor McCoubrey 

DUP Councillor Sandford 

DUP Councillor Newton 

ALL Councillor Jones 

ALL Councillor McAllister 

ALL Councillor Bradshaw 

SDLP Councillor Heading 

SDLP Councillor Mallon 

SDLP Councillor Mullan 

UUP Councillor Copeland 

UUP Councillor Rodgers 

PUP Councillor Corr Johnston 

GREEN Councillor R. Brown 

 
  Page 63



Licensing Committee 
 

Party  Councillor Name 

SF Councillor Clarke 

SF Councillor Campbell 

SF Councillor E. Groves 

SF Councillor Bell 

SF Councillor McConville 

SF Councillor Magennis 

DUP Councillor Hussey 

DUP Councillor L. Patterson 

DUP Councillor Spence 

DUP Councillor Sandford 

ALL Councillor Armitage 

ALL Councillor Jones 

SDLP Councillor Attwood 

SDLP Councillor Hanna 

UUP Councillor Craig 

UUP Councillor Dudgeon 

PUP Councillor Hutchinson 

TUV Councillor Bunting 

GREEN Councillor R. Brown 

PBPA Councillor Carroll 

 
  Page 64



Planning Committee 
 

Party  Councillor Name 

SF Councillor Garrett 

SF Councillor Magee 

SF Councillor Campbell 

SF Councillor McAteer 

DUP Councillor L. Patterson 

DUP Councillor R. Patterson 

ALL Councillor Armitage 

ALL Councillor McDonagh-Brown 

SDLP Councillor Heading 

SDLP Councillor Mullan 

UUP Councillor Johnston 

UUP Councillor McGimpsey 

PUP Councillor Hutchinson 

TUV Councillor Bunting 

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



S T A T U T O R Y  R U L E S  O F  N O R T H E R N  I R E L A N D  

2015 No. 125 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

The Local Government (Transitional, Incidental, Consequential 

and Supplemental Provisions) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 

2015 

Made - - - - 5th March 2015 

Coming into operation - 9th March 2015 

The Department of the Environment makes the following Regulations, in exercise of the powers 

conferred by section 124 of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014(a). 

Citation, commencement and interpretation 

1.—(1) These Regulations may be cited as the Local Government (Transitional, Incidental, 

Consequential and Supplemental Provisions) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2015, and shall come 

into operation on 9th March 2015. 

(2) In these Regulations— 

“1972 Act” means the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 1972; 

“2014 Act” means the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014; 

“district” means a local government district established in pursuance of section 1 of the Local 

Government (Boundaries) Act (Northern Ireland) 2008(b); 

“new council” means a district council constituted under section 1 of the Local Government 

Act (Northern Ireland) 1972 as amended by section 3(1) of the Local Government 

(Boundaries) Act (Northern Ireland) 2008; 

“local government legislation” means— 

(a) the 1972 Act; 

(b) the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Northern Ireland) Order 2002(c); 

(c) Part 2 of the Local Government (Northern Ireland) Order 2005(d); 

(d) Chapter 2 of Part 2 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act (Northern 

Ireland) 2010(e); 

(e) the Local Government Finance Act (Northern Ireland) 2011(f); 

(f) the 2014 Act; and 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) 2014 c. 8 (N.I.). 
(b) 2008 c. 7 (N.I.). 
(c) S.I. 2002/3149. 
(d) S.I. 2005/1968. 
(e) 2010 c. 7 (N.I.) as amended by 2011 c. 10 (N.I.). 
(f) 2011 c. 10 (N.I.). 

Page 67

Agenda Item 4



 2 

(g) any regulations or orders made under any of the immediately preceding statutory 

provisions. 

“operative date” is 1st October 2016; 

“casual vacancy” has the meaning given by section 11 of the Electoral Law Act (Northern 

Ireland) 1962(a). 

Boroughs 

2. Where, before the operative date, a new council is granted a charter designating its district a 

borough under section 2 of the 1972 Act and the whole or major part of any other borough has 

existed in the district before that date, the roll of honorary freemen of that other borough shall 

become and form part of the roll of honorary freemen of the borough designated by the charter. 

Charters 

3.—(1) On the operative date the charter of the corporation of every borough in existence before 

1st April 2015, other than a county borough, the borough of Lisburn or a borough to which 

paragraph (3)(c) applies, shall be annulled. 

(2) The new council for a district which includes the whole or the major part of a borough other 

than a county borough or the borough of Lisburn may, before the operative date, resolve that the 

charter of the corporation of the borough shall have effect in relation to the district; and, if the 

borough bears a name other than the name of the district, the resolution shall provide for the name 

of the corporation of the borough to be changed to correspond to the name of the district. 

(3) After 31st March 2015 the charter of— 

(a) the corporation of each county borough; 

(b) the corporation of the borough of Lisburn; and 

(c) a borough in respect of the charter of which a resolution has been passed under paragraph 

(2); 

shall, subject to these Regulations, have effect in relation to the district which includes the whole 

or major part of the borough as existing immediately before that date. 

(4) In the case of the charter of the borough of Lisburn, after 31st March 2015, the name of the 

corporation of the borough shall be the name of the district. 

(5) The corporation established or regulated by a charter to which paragraph (3) applies shall 

continue to bear the name it bore immediately before the operative date or, where a resolution 

passed under this paragraph provides for a change of its name, shall on and after that date bear the 

name specified in the resolution. 

(6) The chairman of the council mentioned in paragraph (5), and the councillors of that council 

who are designated as aldermen in accordance with the charter, shall be respectively the mayor 

(or, as the case may be, the lord mayor) and the aldermen of the borough to which the charter 

relates. 

(7) Where a freemen’s roll is in existence immediately prior to the operative date in a county 

borough or other borough to which these Regulations apply, that freemen’s roll shall, on the 

operative date, become and form part of the roll of honorary freemen of the borough designated by 

a charter to which paragraph (3) applies. 

(8) Without prejudice to any provision of the charter for the conferment of the freedom of the 

borough, the local electors of a district in relation to which a charter to which paragraph (3) 

applies shall, for the purposes of the charter, be the burgesses (or, as the case may be, the citizens) 

of the borough. 

(9) When a new council passes a resolution under subsection (2) it shall publish notice of the 

resolution in the Belfast Gazette. 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) 1962 c. 14. 

Page 68



 3 

Designation of aldermen 

4.—(1) Notwithstanding any provision in a charter or statutory provision which (immediately 

prior to the operative date) provides for the designation of aldermen, where, in accordance with its 

charter, a council designates aldermen, it shall designate aldermen on or after that date in 

accordance with the following paragraphs of this regulation. 

(2) In this regulation— 

(a) the word “quota” means the number of all voting papers divided by a number exceeding 

by one the number of aldermen to be elected with the addition of one to the result 

obtained from such division; 

(b) the words “surplus votes” shall mean the number of votes by which the total number of 

votes cast for any candidate at any stage of counting exceeds the quota; and 

(c) “special resolution” has the meaning given by section 148 of the 1972 Act. 

(3) Aldermen shall be designated in accordance with the following rules— 

(a) the number of aldermen shall be such number as the council may determine but shall not 

exceed one quarter of the whole number of the councillors; 

(b) if the number of councillors nominated as a candidate for the position of alderman does 

not exceed the number determined by the council in accordance with subparagraph (a) 

and the council so agrees, those nominated councillors may be deemed to be elected to 

the position of alderman; 

(c) if subparagraph (b) does not apply, an alderman shall be elected by the council from 

among the councillors; 

(d) except in the case of an election of an alderman to fill a casual vacancy, the ordinary 

election of aldermen shall be held in every fourth year, being an election year; 

(e) subject to sub-paragraphs (r) and (s), the ordinary election of aldermen shall be held at the 

annual meeting of the council; 

(f) every councillor of the council shall be entitled to vote at the election of an alderman, 

including in the case of an election to fill a casual vacancy, a councillor who is an 

alderman; 

(g) a councillor shall be a candidate for election as an alderman if– 

(i) he is nominated as a candidate by one other councillor as proposer and another as 

seconder; and 

(ii) he assents to the nomination. 

Any nomination may be made, and any assent may be given, either in the course of the 

meeting or by a document signed by the councillor or councillors in question and 

delivered to the clerk of the council before the beginning of the meeting; 

(h) a councillor entitled to vote at a contested election of an alderman shall do so by signing 

and delivering at the meeting to the clerk of the council a voting paper containing in order 

of preference the full names of the candidate or candidates for whom he votes; 

(i) the clerk of the council shall, as soon as all the voting papers have been delivered to him, 

proceed to ascertain the result of the voting and shall state the number of votes given to 

each candidate at each stage of the counting of votes; 

(j) where at any stage of the council of votes the votes recorded for any candidate are equal 

to or greater than the quota, that candidate shall be deemed to be elected; 

(k) at each stage of the counting of votes the transfer of the surplus votes cast for any 

candidate shall be effected by the transfer of such surplus votes in proportion to the 

number of the next available preference votes expressed for other candidates in the voting 

papers of a successful candidate. If at any stage of the counting of votes two or more 

candidates have surplus votes, the largest surplus shall be transferred first; 

Page 69



 4 

(l) if the quota is not achieved after the transfer of all surpluses (if any), the candidate or 

candidates with the highest number of votes shall be elected to fill the remaining 

vacancies; 

(m) in the case of an equality of votes for any candidates, the person presiding at the meeting 

may give a casting vote, whether or not he voted in the first instance, or if the person 

presiding declines to give a casting vote the matter shall be decided by lot; 

(n) in the case of a contested election the person presiding at the meeting shall declare to be 

elected as many candidates as there are vacancies to be filled, and in cases where fewer 

nominations are received than there are vacancies shall declare to be elected all the 

candidates nominated; 

(o) the minutes of proceedings of the meeting, in addition to recording the names of the 

councillors becoming aldermen, shall in the case of a contested election include the full 

names of the candidates to whom votes were given and a complete record of the number 

of votes recorded for each; 

(p) an alderman may resign his office of alderman without ceasing to be a councillor; 

(q) where a councillor, who has been elected an alderman (including a councillor elected an 

alderman to fill a casual vacancy), ceases for any reason to be a councillor, then that 

person shall also cease to be an alderman; 

(r) on a casual vacancy occurring in the office of alderman, that vacancy shall be filled by an 

election at the next annual meeting of the council; 

(s) the first ordinary election of aldermen shall be held at the annual meeting of the council 

held in accordance with regulation 6(5) of the Local Government (Transitional, 

Supplementary, Incidental Provisions and Modifications) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 

2014(a) or, before 1 October 2016, at the first meeting of the council after it receives a 

borough charter (whether under the provisions of these Regulations or the grant of a new 

charter under section 2 of the 1972 Act); 

(t) any questions or matters arising concerning the counting of votes shall be determined by 

the clerk of the council. 

Freedom of the borough 

5. Persons shall be admitted to the freedom of the borough in accordance with the following 

rules— 

(a) no person shall be admitted a freeman of the borough by gift or purchase; 

(b) the council of the borough may, in pursuance of a special resolution of the council, admit 

any person to be an honorary freeman of the borough; 

(c) the admission of a person to be an honorary freeman of the borough shall not confer the 

right of sharing in the benefit of any assets of the council, or of any assets held in whole 

or in part for any charitable use or trust; 

(d) the clerk of the council shall keep a list, called the freemen’s roll, of all persons upon 

whom the freedom of the borough has been conferred. 

Revocation 

6. The Local Government (Modification of Borough Charters) Order (Northern Ireland) 1973(b) 

is revoked. 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) S.R. 2014 No. 148. 
(b) S.R.&O. (N.I.) 1973 No. 207. 

Page 70



 5 

Sealed with the Official Seal of the Department of the Environment on 5th March 2015. 

 

 
 

 Linda MacHugh 

 A senior officer of the Department of the Environment 

 

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

(This note is not part of the Regulations) 

These Regulations make certain provisions in relation to borough charters of existing councils and 

their continuation in relation to a new council. 

The Regulations also specify how a borough council may designate aldermen and admit persons to 

the freedom of the borough. 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



          

 
 

Belfast City Council 
 
 

Report to: Shadow Council – Annual General Meeting 
 
Subject: Agency Agreement between the Council and the Department 

of Regional Development – Off Street Parking Function  
 
Date:  24th March, 2015 
 
Reporting Officer: Suzanne Wylie, Chief Executive 
 
Contact Officer: Siobhan Toland, Head of Environmental Health, Ext 3281 
 

 

1.0 Relevant Background Information 

 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2 

 
The Shadow Strategic Policy and Resources Committee, at its meeting on 20th 
March, agreed to approve the Agency Agreement, as set out in the attached 
report, and that the Council enters into the same with the Department for 
Regional Development. 
 
As the Agreement has to be in place before the commencement date of 1st April, 
2015, the Shadow council is being asked to ratify the decision of the Committee. 

 

2.0 Resource Implications 

 
2.1 
 

 
See attached report. 

 

3.0 Equality and Good Relations Implications 

 
4.1 
 

 
See attached report. 

 

4 Call-In 

 
41 
 

 
The recommendation to approve the Agency Agreement will not be subject to 
call in – as per Standing Order 47 (2)c below: 
 

(2) The following decisions shall not be subject to call-in— 
(c)   a decision where an unreasonable delay could be prejudicial to 

the council’s or the public’s interests; 
 

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 5



 

5.0 Recommendations 

 
5.1 
 
 

 
The Council is recommended to ratify the decision of the Shadow Strategic 
Policy and Resources Committee. 

 
 
 

6.0 Documents Attached 

Appendix – Copy of report submitted to the Strategic Polcy and Resources Committee 
on 20th March, 2015. 

 

Page 74



 

 

 

 
Belfast City Council 

 

Report to: Shadow Strategic Policy and Resources Committee 
 
Subject: Agency Agreement for enforcement and management of off-street parking 
 
Date:  20th March 2015 
 
Reporting Officer: Chris McCarthy, Interim Strategic Director of Health and Environmental 

Services, Ext 3260 
 
Contact Officer: Siobhan Toland, Head of Environmental Health, Ext 3281 
  Damian Connolly, Environmental Health Manager, Ext 3361 

 

1 Relevant Background Information 

 
1.1 
 
 
 
1.2 
 
 
 
1.3 

 
Members will be aware that as of 1st April 2015 the Council will be responsible for the 
ownership of all Department for Regional Development (DRD) off-street car parks, their 
management and enforcement (excluding Park & Ride and Park & Share car parks).  
 
The DRD are currently drafting the Assets Transfer Scheme. It is anticipated that responsibility 
for 30 car parks will transfer to the Council including ownership of 24. The remaining 6 will be 
leased by the Council. 
 
Members, at the Transition Committee meeting held on 18th August 2014, gave authority to 
officers to progress the development of a Service Level Agreement between the Council and 
the Department for Regional Development to continue to provide the current systems for 
parking regulation within off-street car parks between 1st April 2015 and October 2016. An 
extract of that minute is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

2 Key Issues 

 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
2.3 
 
 
 
2.4 
 

 
The Asset Transfer Scheme is currently in a draft format and is being scrutinised by the 
relevant council officers. Amendments will be requested to the Scheme in order to ensure it 
fully satisfies the Councils requirements. The final Transfer Scheme will be reported to 
Committee when received from the DRD. 
 
The proposed Agency Agreement is attached as Appendix 2. The document has been 
scrutinised by officers of the Council’s Legal Services Section and Health and Environmental 
Services and they are satisfied with its contents. 
 
The Agency Agreement applies to the 17 charged car parks transferring to BCC from DRD and 
takes effect on the 1st April 2015 and remains in force until 31st October 2015. The contract 
value is estimated at approximately £280k over the 18 month term of the agreement. 
 
The Agency Agreement (which will be supported by a detailed Technical Specification) allows 
enforcement of off street car parks within the Council boundary to be provided for by the DRD. 

Page 75



 

 

 
 
 
2.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.6 
 
 
 
 
 
2.7 

These documents allow the Council to satisfy itself that the service provided will assist the 
Council is fulfilling its statutory obligations. 
 
Aspects of the service to be provided by the DRD on behalf of the Council include: 
� Off-Street Enforcement 
� Cash Collection 
� Pay & Display (“P&D”) Machine Maintenance 
� Car Park Cleaning, plant and general maintenance 
� Penalty Charge Notice (“PCN”) Processing 
 
Effective enforcement through the issuing of PCN’s is essential to optimise car park usage so 
benefiting City Centre accessibility and the local economy. It is important to note that there are 
no targets or incentives for Traffic Attendants to issue PCNs. All appeals regarding PCNs are 
dealt with through an independent appeals process and neither Council officers nor elected 
members will be involved in decisions regarding the issuing or appeal of individual PCN’s 
 
Clamping of vehicles and vehicle removal will be used as a means of debt recovery where an 
individual has 3 outstanding unpaid PCN’s owed to the Council. 

 

3 Resource Implications 

 
3.1 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 
3.3 
 

 
Financial 
It is anticipated that off street car parking will generate a surplus, however, this has been offset 
against other transferring budgets, with no overall net gain to the Council.  
 
Human Resources 
DRD have proposed that no staff will transfer to Councils with the transfer of off-street car 
parking. If the Council decided to change the enforcement arrangements after October 2016 
TUPE may apply to DRD and NSL staff employed in off-street enforcement at that time. 
 
Asset and Other Implications 
It is anticipated that 30 car parks, including “Pay and display” machines, signage and street 
lighting within car parks will transfer to the Council. 
 

 

4 Equality and Good Relations Considerations 

 
4.1 
 

 
No equality or good relations implications. 
 

 

5 Call In 

 
5.1 

 
The recommendation to approve the Agency Agreement will not be subject to call in – as per 
Standing Order 47 (2)c below: 
 

(2) The following decisions shall not be subject to call-in— 
(c)   a decision where an unreasonable delay could be prejudicial to the council’s or 

the public’s interests; 
 

 

6 Recommendations 

 
6.1 

 
Members are requested to approve the Agency Agreement and that the Council enters into the 
same with the DRD. 

 
 
 

Page 76



 

 

7 Decision Tracking 

 
The Council will enter into the Agency Agreement with DRD. 

 

8 Key to Abbreviations 

 
DRD – Department for Regional Development 
BCC – Belfast City Council 
 

 

9 Documents Attached 

 
Appendix 1 – Extract from Transition Committee minutes of 18th August 2014  
Appendix 2 – Proposed Agency Agreement between Belfast City Council and DRD 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 77



 

 

 

Appendix 1 – Extract from Transition Committee minutes of 18th August 2014  
 

Transition Committee 
Monday, 18th August, 2014 4.30 pm 

Transfer of Functions - Future Delivery of Off-Street Car Parking 

It is considered that there would be insufficient time for Councils to establish new contractual 

arrangements for this service before 1st April 2015. Therefore through the Regional Roads Sub Group 

the DRD has agreed in principle to provide services to councils for the enforcement and servicing of 

car parks until the existing contracts break at the end of October 2016. The level of service and cost 

would be agreed in a service level agreement between individual Councils and DRD. 

Members are asked to approve: 

1.   That Officers progress the development of a Service Level Agreement between the Council and 

the DRD to continue to provide the current systems for parking regulation within off-street car 

parks between 1st April 2015 and October 2016; and 

The Committee adopted the recommendations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 78



 

 

 

Appendix 2 – Draft Agency Agreement between Belfast City Council and DRD 
 
 

Agency Agreement  
 

between 
 

Belfast City Council 
 

and  
 

DRD 
 

for 
 

Parking enforcement in Council 
owned off-street car parks 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 79



 

 

 
 
Contents    
 
Section 1: Introduction 
 
Section 2: Scope  
   
 
Section 3: Duration of the agreement 
 
Section 4: Roles and responsibilities 
   
 
Section 5: Information 
 
Section 6: Review  
 
Section 7: Charges  
   
 
Section 8: Dispute resolution 
   
Section 9: Termination 
 
Section 10: Indemnities 
 
Section 11: Third party rights 
 
Section 12: Law 
 
Section 13: Signatories 
 
 
SCHEDULE  
 
Technical Specification for the provision of Off Street Parking Enforcement 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 80



 

 

 

THIS AGREEMENT is made on the               day of                       2015  
 
This Agreement is made between Belfast City Council and the Department for Regional Development 
(“DRD”) of Clarence Court, 10-18 Adelaide Street, Belfast, BT2 8GB  under Section 104 of the Local 
Government Act (Northern Ireland) 1972. 
 
 
 
SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION 
 
The Northern Ireland Executive has agreed, as part of the process of Local Government Reform 
(“LGR”), to transfer certain functions in relation to off-street car parking to the 11 district councils being 
created as part of the LGR process. Historically, DRD was the single public road authority for Northern 
Ireland and carried out a range of statutory functions in respect of off street car parking under the 
Road Traffic Regulation (Northern Ireland) Order 1997 (“the 1997 Order”) and the Traffic Management 
(Northern Ireland) Order 2005 (“the 2005 Order”). Certain functions carried out by DRD under the 
1997 Order and the 2005 Order in relation to off-street car parking are intended to transfer to  [insert 
name of Council] under the Off-Street Parking (Functions of District Councils) Act 20[  ]  (hereinafter 
referred to as “the Act”). 
 
DRD has agreed that for the period specified in Section 3 hereto DRD shall provide certain services on 
behalf of the Council in relation to the civil enforcement and management of off-street car parking 
(hereinafter referred to as “the Service” and more particularly described in the Schedule hereto) for the 
purpose of assisting the Council in carrying out its functions under the Act and shall use its best 
endeavours to ensure compliance with same. 
  
DRD has entered into sub-contracts with NSL and SPUR for the provision of certain car-parking 
services on behalf of DRD.  For the avoidance of doubt, the Council is not a party to these sub-
contracts and the Council’s contractual relationship with DRD shall be as set out in this Agreement. 
 
 
SECTION 2: SCOPE 
 
2.1 Scope  
 
This Agreement (“the Agreement” which shall include the Technical Specification in the Schedule) 
shall apply to the car parks, equipment and associated car park signage (“the Assets”) described in 
the Technical Specification for the provision of Off Street Parking Enforcement. 
 
2.2 Free car parks 
 
This Agreement applies to the charged car parks listed in the Technical Specification.  If the Council 
wish to begin enforcement in free car parks, they may be added to the Schedule by agreement with 
DRD in accordance with Section 3 of this Agreement.   
 
If the Council wish to carry out enforcement in free car parks the terms of such enforcement and 
charging will be agreed in accordance with Section 3 with DRD prior to the commencement of any 
such enforcement.     
 
 
SECTION 3: DURATION OF THE AGREEMENT 
 
This Agreement takes effect from the 1st April 2015 and remains in force until 31st October 2016 (“the 
Term”).  
 

Page 81



 

 

This Agreement may be amended at any time with the consent of both parties, with such amendments 
to be evidenced in writing. Agreed amendments shall be incorporated into this Agreement. 
 
 
SECTION 4: ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
4.1 (a) DRD and the Council shall carry out their obligations as set out in this Agreement. 
 
(b)  DRD shall carry out the Service with all reasonable skill, care and diligence and in accordance 
with all applicable law and legislation. 
 
(c) DRD shall perform the Service and its obligations under this Agreement at all times in a 
professional manner and shall not undertake any activity, or act in such a way as to bring the image of 
the Council into disrepute and it shall ensure that its employees, agents and contractors act at all 
times in a professional manner when delivering the Service and shall not undertake any activity, or act 
in such a way as to bring the image of the Council into disrepute. 
 
 
   
SECTION 5: INFORMATION  
 
5.1 Record management and data protection 
 
5.1(a) Access to Personal Data  
 
In relation to this Agreement, the processing of any personal data by DRD and the Council during this 
interim arrangement will rest with each other respectively.   
 
DRD and the Council will therefore assume the role of joint Data Controllers for the personal and 
sensitive personal data they process. Each has full responsibility to meet their data protection 
obligations regarding the personal data they gather, use and retain during the interim arrangement and 
ensure the eight principles are applied. 

DRD and the Council will exercise control over the purposes and the manner in which the personal 
data is processed. DRD and the Council shall:- 
 

• apply a level of interpretation to the personal data they process; 

• take responsibility to exercise professional judgement on that data;  

• undertake significant decision-making tasks in relation to personal data processed; and   

• apply its own technical expertise and professional judgement on how best to store the personal 
data in a safe and accessible way  
 

DRD and the Council shall deal with requests submitted to them for access to Personal Data, received 
under the Data Protection Act, 1998.   
Requests for data shall be processed within the Freedom of Information Act/Environmental Information 
Regulations timescale of 20 working days and are subject to FOI/EIR regulations.  Any other requests 
will have a 15 working day target for response. Data Subject Access request timeline is 40 working 
days. 

  
5.1(b) Access to General and Environmental Information 
 
If any request is submitted to either organisation for access to General Information received under the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 (“FOIA”) or Environmental Information received under the 
Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (“EIR”), relating to this overall function, the following 
procedure should apply: 
 
 

Page 82



 

 

The Council shall process all requests for access to information relevant to it. The requests may be 
submitted directly to the Council or to DRD.  If the request is submitted to DRD it must immediately 
forward the request to the Council for processing.  The Council has the responsibility to review and 
respond under the FOIA, EIR or treat as business as usual   DRD must provide assistance in locating 
and making available any information (if held) relevant to the request within 10 working days.  
 
Information relating to procedures or service standards in relation to this interim arrangement will be 
held by the Council.  
 
5.2 Correspondence 
 
The PCN and processing correspondence shall include reference to TransportNI corporate identity 
and the following words “Working in partnership Local Councils”. 
 
5.3 Exchange of Information 
 
The Council shall be facilitated with access to any statistical and other information gathered and 
retained by DRD in relation to this Agreement and the Service being provided during the Term of this 
Agreement. Both parties shall comply with their respective obligations under the Data Protection Act 
1998. 
 
5.4 Information provided in confidence 
 
The parties acknowledge that the cancellation guidelines and the costings set out in the Technical 
Specification shall be treated as commercial in confidence and should not form any part of information 
to be made available in the public domain.  Nothing in this section shall relieve the parties of their 
obligations in relation to the FOIA and the EIR. 
 
5.5 Exit Management 
 
DRD shall develop exit management plans with the NSL and IT provider, Spur Information Solutions 
Ltd. to transfer all data which is relevant to the Agreement and the Service to the Council upon 
termination of this Agreement.  
 
DRD and the Council shall agree an exit management plan within 6 months of the commencement of 
the Agreement.   The exit management plan will be reviewed thereafter by the parties as necessary by 
agreement. DRD shall use best endeavours to assist the Council with the provision of necessary 
information in relation to exit management and the delivery of the Service. Where not already in the 
public domain, DRD will provide the Council with relevant procedures in relation to the delivery of the 
Service. 
 
As part of the exit management plan DRD will provide the Council with detailed knowledge of the 
operation and management of the Service in order to allow the Council to continue to comply with its 
obligations under the Act. 
 
5.6 Procurement planning 
 
Within 6 months of the commencement of this Agreement, the Council shall notify DRD of its decision 
as to whether or not it intends to enter into a joint procurement exercise with DRD for provision of the 
Service following the Term of the Agreement.  
 
5.7 Dealing with complaints 
 
Complaints relating to NSL staff and the service provided by them will be directed to NSL who will be 
responsible for investigating and responding to the complaint. NSL will forward a copy of the response 
to DRD who will forward a copy to Council 
 

Page 83



 

 

DRD shall be responsible for investigating and responding to any complaints relating to DRD and shall 
forward a copy of any response to such complaints to the Council.   
 
All other complaints which fall outside the scope of this Agreement will be directed to the Council who 
will be responsible for investigating and responding to the complaint. Such complaints may include 
complaints regarding the condition of a car park, tariffs etc  
 
Statistics on the number and nature of complaints reported to NSL and DRD as well as the outcome of 
complaints, will be reported to the Council by DRD on a monthly basis and discussed at the 6 monthly 
review meetings 
 
 
SECTION 6: REVIEW  
 
DRD shall monitor the performance of the Service and provide monthly performance reports to the 
Council as per the template set out in the Schedule.  DRD agree to maintain effective records 
demonstrating compliance. 
 
DRD shall meet with a body representing all Councils within the first 4 weeks of the commencement of 
the Agreement and every 3 months thereafter to monitor and review the implementation, performance 
and quality of the Service.  This will allow discussion of any issues that have arisen and action to be 
agreed where necessary. 
 
The agenda for the review meetings between Council and DRD may include: 
 

• Enforcement management of this Agreement 

• PCNs issued 

• Debt recovered 

• Outstanding debt 

• Complaints 

• Correspondence 

• Representations/appeals/challenges 

• Innovation  
 
Both parties shall also deal with issues arising outside of these meetings as soon as possible. 
 
DRD on request shall attend meetings with council officers and elected member forums, as 
appropriate. Additional information may be provided by DRD as requested, where possible, and on a 
cost recovery basis.  
 
 
SECTION 7: CHARGES 
 
7.1 Income to be paid by DRD 
 
DRD shall pay the following to the Council during the Term: 
  

A. All income in respect of off-street Penalty Charge Notices; and 
B. All income from off street parking. 

 
Payment shall be made in accordance with the provisions of the Technical Specification. 
 
7.2 Charges to be paid by the Council 
 
The Council shall pay the charges calculated in accordance with the Technical Specification to DRD 
within 28 working days of receiving an invoice supported by the monthly financial reports in 
accordance with the Technical Specification, subject to the approval of the invoice by the Council. 
 

Page 84



 

 

 
SECTION 8: DISPUTE RESOLUTION  
 
Should a dispute arise between the Council and DRD concerning any aspect of the Services rendered 
by DRD under this Agreement, the Council representative and DRD representative shall use 
reasonable endeavours to resolve the dispute within 30 working days. If the dispute remains 
unresolved, the Council Head of Service shall then attempt to resolve the dispute with his counterpart 
in DRD within 30 working days. If the dispute remains unresolved then the resolution will lie with the 
Chief Executive of the Council and their counterpart in DRD who shall use reasonable endeavours to 
resolve the dispute within 30 working days. These timescales may be extended by agreement by both 
parties.  If the dispute remains unresolved the matter should be brought to an independent arbitrator 
for resolution. An independent arbitrator shall be agreed by both parties within 3 months of the 
commencement of this Agreement. 
 
 
SECTION 9 TERMINATION 
 
9.1    If either Party has committed a breach of this Agreement which materially or adversely affects 

the performance of the Service and which is capable of remedy, the other Party may serve a 
written notice on the Party specifying: 

 
9.1(a) the type of breach that has occurred giving reasonable details; and 

 
9.1(b) that this Agreement will terminate on the day falling forty five (45) calendar days after 

receipt of the notice, unless the Party in breach puts forward an acceptable 
rectification programme (to be agreed between the parties) or rectifies the breach to 
the satisfaction of the other party acting reasonably within twenty five (25) calendar 
days of receipt of the notice. 

 
and, if the Party in breach fails to rectify the breach within the time period specified in 
the rectification programme or to provide an acceptable rectification programme, the 
Agreement will terminate with immediate effect and without notice. 

 
 
SECTION 10: INDEMNITIES 
 
Each of the parties agree to indemnify and keep indemnified the other party from and against all 
losses, actions, proceedings, claims, demands, expenses or liabilities whatsoever suffered by the 
other party as a result directly or indirectly of any unlawful act or any act, omission or negligence of the 
other or any breach by the other of its obligations under this Agreement (and this shall include any act, 
omission, negligence, or breach of this Agreement by their sub-contractors, agents, appointees and 
such others engaged by them). 
 
DRD shall ensure that its sub-contractor shall hold and maintain public liability insurance for an 
amount not less than £10million for the Term of the Agreement. 
 

 

SECTION 11: THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 
 
None of the provisions of this Agreement are intended to or will operate to confer any 
benefit pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 on a person who is not named as 
a party to this Agreement.  
 
 
SECTION 12: LAW 
 
This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the law in  

Page 85



 

 

Northern Ireland and subject to the jurisdiction of the Courts in Northern Ireland.  
 
 
 
SECTION 13: SIGNATORIES 
 
This Agreement is made on the [               ] day of [                            ] 2015 between Belfast City 
Council and the Department for Regional Development. 
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Council has hereunto affixed its corporate seal the day and year herein 
written  
 
PRESENT when the Corporate Seal   ) 
of BELFAST CITY COUNCIL  ) 
was affixed hereto:-       
  ) 
  ) 
   ) 
___________________  ) 
Lord Mayor   ) 
   ) 
   ) 
   ) 
___________________  ) 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 
 
PRESENT when the Official Seal of  
the Department for Regional Development             ) 
was affixed hereto:-                                                                                        
                                                                                                     ) 
                                                                                                     ) 
Senior Officer. 
 
 
Date: 
 
 
 SCHEDULE 
 
Technical Specification for the provision of Off Street Parking Enforcement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86


	Agenda
	1 Draft Standing Orders for New Council Period
	Appendix 1 - Standing Orders for new Council

	2 Agreement on Filling Positions of Responsibility
	Positions of Responsibility 2015-2019

	3 Agreement on the appointment of Councillors to Committees
	Appendix 1 for Report on Appointment of Committees

	4 Appointment of Aldermen
	5 Agency Agreement Between the Council and the Department for Regional Development - (re: Off-Street Parking Function)
	Agency Agreement for enforcement and management of off-street parking


